JOHN HANCOCK LIFE INSURANCE CO USA Form F-3 September 04, 2009 Table of Contents

As filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 4, 2009

File Nos.

and

# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

# FORM F-3 REGISTRATION STATEMENT

UNDER

THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

Manulife Financial Corporation	(Exact name of each Registrant as specified in its charter)	John Hancock Life Insurance
		Company (U.S.A.)
Canada	(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)	
98-0361647	(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)	01-0233346

200 Bloor Street East (Address and telephone number of **601 Congress Street** Toronto, Ontario, each Registrant s principal executive offices) Boston, Massachusetts 02210 Canada M4W 1E5 (617) 663-3000 (416) 926-3000 Richard A. Lococo, Esq. (Name, address and telephone number of Scott A. Lively, Esq. agent for service) **Manulife Financial Corporation** John Hancock Life Insurance 200 Bloor Street East Company (U.S.A.) Toronto, Ontario, **601 Congress Street** Canada M4W 1E5 Boston, Massachusetts 02210

### Copies to:

(617) 663-3000

(416) 926-3000

Andrew J. Beck, Esq.	William M. Rustum, Esq.	Michael L. Fantozzi, Esq.
Torys LLP	Andrew L. Fabens, Esq.	R. Mark Chamberlin, Esq.
237 Park Avenue	Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP	Mintz, Levin, Cohn, Ferris,
New York, NY 10017	200 Park Avenue	Glovsky and Popeo, P.C.
(212) 880-6000	New York, New York 10166	One Financial Center
	(212) 351-4000	Boston, Massachusetts 02111
		(617) 542-6000

Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to the public: From time to time after the effective date of this Registration Statement.

If only securities being registered on this Form are being offered pursuant to dividend or interest reinvestment plans, please check the following box."

If any of the securities being registered on this Form are to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, check the following box. x

If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, please check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

If this Form is a registration statement pursuant to General Information I.C. or a post-effective amendment thereto that shall become effective upon filing with the Commission pursuant to Rule 462(e) under the Securities Act, check the following box.

If this form is a post-effective amendment to a registration statement filed pursuant to General Instruction I.C. filed to register additional securities or additional classes of securities pursuant to Rule 413(b) under the Securities Act, check the following box.

### CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

		Proposed	Proposed	
		maximum	maximum	
		aggregate price	aggregate offering	
Title of each class of securities to be registered John Hancock Life Insurance Company (U.S.A.) Notes Subordinated guarantees of John Hancock Life Insurance	<b>Amount to be</b> registered (1) \$1,985,782,000	per security (2) 100%	price (2) 100%	Amount of registration fee \$110,807
Company (U.S.A.) Notes (3)				None

- (1) An indeterminate number or amount of John Hancock Life Insurance Company (U.S.A.) Notes that may from time to time be issued at indeterminate prices, in U.S. dollars. In no event will the aggregate maximum offering price of all Notes issued pursuant to this Registration Statement exceed \$1,985,782,000, or if any Notes are issued with an original issue discount, such greater amount as shall result in an aggregate offering price not to exceed \$1,985,782,000.
- (2) Estimated solely for the purpose of determining the amount of the registration fee.
- (3) The subordinated guarantees issued by Manulife Financial Corporation being registered hereon is being sold without separate consideration. Pursuant to Rule 457(n) under the Securities Act, no separate fee for the subordinated guarantees is payable.

The Registrants hereby amend this registration statement on such date or dates as may be necessary to delay its effective date until the Registrants shall file a further amendment which specifically states that this registration statement shall thereafter become effective in accordance with Section 8(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 or until the registration statement shall become effective on such date as the Commission, acting pursuant to said Section 8(a), may determine.

The information in this prospectus is not complete and may be changed. We may not sell these securities until the registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission is effective. This prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities and it is not soliciting an offer to buy these securities in any state where the offer or sale is not permitted.

Subject to Completion, Dated September 4, 2009

### PRELIMINARY PROSPECTUS

U.S. \$1,985,782,000

John Hancock Life Insurance Company (U.S.A.)

Notes Offered on or after

, 2009 (the effective date of the registration statement to

which this prospectus relates)

With Maturities of Twelve Months or More from Date of Issue

Guaranteed as described herein by

**Manulife Financial Corporation** 

We plan to offer and sell Notes with various terms, which may include the following:

maturity of twelve months or more from the date of issue;

interest at a fixed or floating rate;

floating interest rates based on one or more of the following indices, plus or minus a spread: CD Rate, CMT Rate, CP Rate, Federal Funds Rate, LIBOR, Prime Rate, Treasury Rate, Consumer Price Index Adjusted Rate or such other interest basis or interest rate formula as may be specified in the applicable pricing supplement;

interest payment dates at monthly, quarterly, semi-annual or annual intervals;

book-entry form (through The Depository Trust Company);

minimum denominations of \$1,000 or integral multiples of \$1,000; and

redemption and/or repayment provisions.

Our payment obligations under the Notes will be fully and unconditionally guaranteed by a subordinated guarantee of Manulife Financial Corporation, a Canadian corporation and our indirect parent.

We will specify the final terms for each Note, and all other information permitted to be omitted from this prospectus under relevant securities laws, in the applicable pricing supplement that will be delivered to purchasers together with this prospectus. The final terms of each Note may be different from the terms described in this prospectus. You must pay for the Notes by delivering the purchase price to an agent, unless you make other payment arrangements.

Investing in the Notes involves certain risks, including the risk that, due to the absence of an established secondary trading market, Notes may have to be held to maturity. See <u>Risk Factors</u> beginning on page 7.

We may sell Notes to the agents as principal for resale at varying or fixed offering prices or through the agents as agent using their reasonable best efforts on our behalf. If we sell all of the Notes to or through the agents, we expect to receive aggregate proceeds of between \$1,985,782,000 and \$1,886,492,900 after paying the agents

discounts and commissions of between zero dollars (\$0) and \$99,289,100. We may also sell Notes on our own behalf without the assistance of the agents.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

You should be aware that owning these securities may have tax consequences both in the United States and Canada. You should read the tax discussion contained in this prospectus and in any applicable prospectus supplement or pricing supplement. This prospectus and any applicable prospectus supplement or pricing supplement may not describe these tax consequences fully.

Your ability to enforce civil liabilities under U.S. federal securities laws may be affected adversely by the fact that Manulife Financial Corporation is organized under the laws of Canada, most of its officers and directors and some of the experts named in this prospectus are residents of Canada, and a substantial portion of its assets are located outside the United States.

There is no market through which these securities may be sold and purchasers may not be able to resell securities purchased under this prospectus.

INCAPITAL LLC

**BOFA MERRILL LYNCH** 

CHARLES SCHWAB & CO., INC.

CITI

**MORGAN STANLEY** 

FIDELITY CAPITAL MARKETS,

a division of National Financial Services LLC

RBC CAPITAL MARKETS CORPORATION

**UBS INVESTMENT BANK** 

WELLS FARGO ADVISORS, LLC

, 2009

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Notice to Residents of Alabama, California and Delaware	1
About This Prospectus	1
Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward Looking Statements	1
Summary	3
Risk Factors	7
Where You Can Find More Information	11
Accounting Treatment	13
Description Of John Hancock Life Insurance Company (U.S.A.)	13
Description Of Manulife Financial Corporation	13
Use of Proceeds	14
Description of Notes	14
General	14
Glossary	16
Book-Entry; Delivery and Form	16
Global Clearance and Settlement Procedures	19
Payment of Principal and Interest	19
Redemption	20
Repayment Upon Death Rights and Limitations under the Survivor s Option	21
Beneficial Owner for Purposes of the Survivor s Option	22
How to Exercise the Survivor s Option	22
Payment of Additional Amounts	23
Redemption for Tax Reasons	24
MFC Subordinated Guarantee	25
Additional Terms for Floating Rate Notes	25
Interest Accrual and Payments	25
Interest Rate Determinations	26
Interest Reset Periods and Interest Reset Dates	26
Maximum and Minimum Interest Rates	26
Calculation Agent	27
Certain Definitions	27
Additional Terms For Notes With Interest Rate Based On CPI	32
Calculation of the Interest Rate Based on CPI	32
Consumer Price Index	33
Accrual and Payment of Interest	34
Description of the MFC Subordinated Guarantee	34
United States Federal Taxation	35
General General	35
Tax Consequences to U.S. Holders	36
Tax Consequences to Non-United States Persons	39
Covenants	40
Limitation on Secured Indebtedness	40
Consolidation, Merger or Sale of Assets	41
Modification Of The Indenture	42
Defeasance And Covenant Defeasance	42
Events Of Default	43
The Trustee	43
The Paying Agent	
<del></del>	43 43
Plan Of Distribution	
Legal Opinions  Formula	45
Experts  For form with a filled and the second and	45
Enforcement of Judgments	45

### NOTICE TO RESIDENTS OF ALABAMA, CALIFORNIA AND DELAWARE

John Hancock Life Insurance Company (U.S.A.) is licensed and conducts insurance business in the District of Columbia and in all states of the United States except New York. Consequently, we are regulated by insurance regulators in each such jurisdiction. A number of states in the United States, including Alabama, California and Delaware, require regulated insurance companies to obtain a permit from the insurance regulatory authority of that state prior to offering, selling or issuing securities in the state. We have applied for, and received, permits to offer, sell and issue our securities from insurance regulators in each such state except Alabama, California and Delaware. Unless and until appropriate orders from Alabama, California or Delaware are received, no offers to sell Notes in Alabama, California or Delaware will be made, and no offers to purchase Notes from residents of Alabama, California or Delaware will be accepted.

### ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS

In this prospectus and in any prospectus supplement, unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, references to John Hancock (U.S.A.), Issuer, we, our, ours and us refer to John Hancock Life Insurance Company (U.S.A.) and its subsidiaries and references to MFC to Manulife Financial Corporation. Unless otherwise specified, all dollar amounts contained in this prospectus and in any prospectus supplement are expressed in U.S. dollars, and references to dollars or \$ are to U.S. dollars and all references to Cdn\$ are to Canadian dollars. John Hancock (U.S.A.) financial information included and incorporated by reference in this prospectus or included in any prospectus supplement is prepared using generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, which we refer to as U.S. GAAP. Unless otherwise specified, MFC financial information included and incorporated by reference in this prospectus or included in any prospectus supplement is prepared using generally accepted accounting principles in Canada, which we refer to as Canadian GAAP.

This prospectus is part of a joint registration statement on Form F-3 that MFC and John Hancock (U.S.A.) filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) relating to the Notes and the subordinated guarantee. Under the registration statement, John Hancock (U.S.A.) may, from time to time, sell the Notes described in this prospectus during the period that this prospectus (including any amendments hereto) remains effective pursuant to applicable securities laws, in one or more offerings up to an aggregate principal amount of \$1,985,782,000. This prospectus provides you with a general description of the Notes that John Hancock (U.S.A.) may offer. Each time that John Hancock (U.S.A.) sells Notes under the registration statement, it will provide a pricing supplement that will contain specific information about the terms of that specific offering of Notes.

The pricing supplement (and any applicable prospectus supplement) may also add, update or change information contained in this prospectus. Before you invest, you should read both this prospectus and any applicable prospectus supplement together with additional information described under the heading Where You Can Find More Information .

This prospectus does not contain all of the information contained in the registration statement, certain parts of which are omitted in accordance with the rules and regulations of the SEC. You should refer to the registration statement and the exhibits to the registration statement for further information with respect to the Notes and us. See Accounting Treatment.

### CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus contain statements that constitute forward looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

These statements relate to future events or our future financial performance, which involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from those expressed or implied by any forward looking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward looking statements by terminology such as expect, anticipate, estimate, intend, may, will, could, would, should, predict, potential, plan, believe or the negative of these ter terminology.

Although we believe that the expectations reflected in such forward looking statements are reasonable, such statements involve risks and uncertainties, and undue reliance should not be placed on such statements. Actual events or results may differ materially because of factors that affect international businesses, as well as matters

1

### **Table of Contents**

specific to us and the markets we serve. Moreover we do not, nor does any other person, assume responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of those statements. Unless otherwise required by applicable securities laws, we disclaim any intention or obligation to update any of the forward looking statements after the date of this prospectus. All of the forward looking statements are qualified in their entirety by reference to the factors discussed under the captions. Risk Factors and Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Statements in MFC s Annual Information Form, dated March 26, 2009, and under the captions. Risk Management and Critical Accounting and Actuarial Policies in MFC s Management s Discussion and Analysis for the year ended December 31, 2008, and in note 8 to MFC s annual audited consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2008, each filed as an exhibit to MFC s annual report on Form 40-F, as amended, for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008 (incorporated by reference in this prospectus) and similar sections in MFC s subsequent filings that MFC incorporates by reference in this prospectus, which describe risks and factors that could cause results to differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements.

Those risk factors may not be exhaustive. We operate in a continually changing business environment, and new risk factors emerge from time to time. We cannot predict these new risk factors, nor can we assess the impact, if any, of these new risk factors on our businesses or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those projected in any forward looking statements. Accordingly, forward looking statements should not be relied upon as a prediction of actual results.

2

### SUMMARY

You should read the more detailed information appearing elsewhere in this prospectus or any accompanying prospectus supplement.

Issuer John Hancock Life Insurance Company (U.S.A.), 601 Congress Street, Boston,

Massachusetts, 02210 (Tel. No. 617-663-3000).

Guarantor Manulife Financial Corporation.

Purchasing Agent Incapital LLC.

Title Notes offered on or after , 2009 (the effective date of the registration

statement to which this prospectus relates), which we refer to as the Notes. This program

commenced in 2002.

Amount Up to \$1,985,782,000 aggregate principal amount.

Denomination Unless otherwise specified in the applicable pricing supplement, we will issue and sell

Notes in denominations of \$1,000 and any integral multiple of \$1,000.

Ranking The Notes will be senior notes, ranking equally with all of our other unsecured,

unsubordinated debt. The Notes will not be secured by any collateral. Our aggregate outstanding debt (including the debt of our consolidated subsidiaries) as of June 30, 2009 was approximately \$548 million, of which \$541 million was Surplus Notes that we issued. Surplus Notes represent subordinated debt obligations of John Hancock (U.S.A.). As of June 30, 2009, the outstanding principal amount of our subsidiaries debt was approximately \$0. If one of these subsidiaries became insolvent, that subsidiary might not

be able to provide us funds to pay interest and principal on the Notes.

The subordinated guarantee of MFC applicable to the Notes will constitute an unsecured obligation of MFC as guarantor, and will be subordinated in right of payment to the prior payment in full of all other obligations of MFC, except for other guarantees or obligations of MFC which by their terms are designated as ranking equally in right of payment with or subordinate to MFC s guarantee of the Notes.

Maturities The Notes will mature twelve months or more from the date of issue, as specified in the

applicable pricing supplement.

Interest Unless otherwise specified in the applicable pricing supplement:

each Note will bear interest from the issue date at a fixed rate, which will be zero in the case of a zero-coupon note, or a floating rate;

a floating interest rate may be based on one or more of the following indices, plus or minus a spread: CD Rate, CMT Rate, CP Rate, Federal Funds Rate, LIBOR, Prime Rate, Treasury Rate, Consumer Price Index Adjustment Rate or such other interest basis or interest rate formula as may be specified in the applicable pricing supplement;

interest on a floating rate note will be reset daily, weekly, monthly, quarterly, semi-annually or at another interest reset period as set forth in the applicable pricing supplement;

we will pay interest on each Note, other than a zero-coupon note, on either monthly, quarterly, semi-annual or annual interest payment dates, on the maturity date and, if applicable, on a redemption date or a repayment date occurring in connection with an exercise of the survivor s option; and

3

interest on the Notes will be computed using one of the following mathematical formulas, specified in the applicable pricing supplement, that are based on the number of days the Notes remain outstanding: Actual/365 (Fixed), Actual/Actual (Historical), 30/360 or Actual/360. See Additional Terms for Floating Rate Notes Interest Accrual and Payments.

Principal

Unless otherwise provided in the applicable pricing supplement, the principal amount of the Notes will be payable on the maturity date of such Notes at the corporate trust office of the Trustee or at such other place as we may designate.

Subordinated Guarantee

The payment obligations with respect to the Notes will be fully and unconditionally guaranteed by a subordinated guarantee of MFC. MFC s obligation under the subordinated guarantee will be unsecured and will be subordinated in right of payment to the prior payment in full of all other obligations of MFC, except for other guarantees or obligations of MFC which by their terms are designated as ranking equally in right of payment with or subordinate to MFC s guarantee of the Notes. See Description of the MFC Subordinated Guarantee.

Redemption and Repayment

Unless otherwise provided in the applicable pricing supplement:

we will not have the option to redeem the Notes prior to the maturity date; and

the Notes will not be subject to any sinking fund.

The holders of the Notes will not have the option to require repayment of the Notes prior to the maturity date, except, if indicated in the applicable pricing supplement, following the death of the owner of the Note. See Description of Notes Repayment Upon Death Rights and Limitations under the Survivor s Option.

**Uncertain Trading Markets** 

There is no established trading market for the Notes. Neither we nor the Agents are under any obligation to make a market in the Notes or to list or maintain any listing of the Notes on any exchange or quotation system. As a result, you may not be able to liquidate your investment in the Notes readily at any given time. See Risk Factors Risks Generally Applicable to the Notes You May Not be Able to Sell Your Notes at the Time or Price You Desire.

Form of Notes and Clearance

Unless otherwise provided in the applicable pricing supplement, the Notes will be represented by global securities deposited with or on behalf of the depositary, The Depository Trust Company, and registered in the name of the depositary s nominee. Global Notes will be exchangeable for definitive Notes only in limited circumstances. See Description of Notes Book-Entry; Delivery and Form.

Trustee

The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., Corporate Finance, 222 Berkeley Street, 2nd Floor, Boston, MA 02116, under an indenture that will be entered into, which we refer to as the Indenture.

Agents

Incapital LLC; Banc of America Securities LLC; Charles Schwab & Co., Inc.; Citigroup Global Markets Inc.; Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated; Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated; Fidelity Capital Markets, a division of National Financial Services LLC; RBC Capital Markets Corporation; UBS Securities LLC; and Wells Fargo Advisors, LLC.

Calculation Agent

The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., Corporate Finance, 222 Berkeley Street, 2nd Floor, Boston, MA 02116.

4

Selling Group Members

Broker-dealers and other securities firms that have executed dealer agreements with the Purchasing Agent and agreed to market and sell the Notes in accordance with the terms of these agreements along with all other applicable laws and regulations. For a list of selling group members, you may call 1-800-327-1546 or access the Internet at www...com.

Earnings to Fixed Charges Ratios

The following tables set forth the historical ratios of earnings to fixed charges of MFC for the periods specified. These ratios were prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP and U.S. GAAP, as noted. For the purpose of calculating the ratio of earnings to fixed charges, earnings represent income before minority interest in consolidated subsidiaries, income or loss from equity investees and provision for income taxes, plus fixed charges and distributed income of equity investees, less preference security dividend requirements of consolidated subsidiaries, if any. Fixed charges consist of (a) interest expensed and capitalized (other than (i) dividends on liabilities for preferred shares accounted for as interest expense, (ii) interest expense on claims, (iii) interest expense on pension, and (iv) deficiency interest), which includes interest related to the Capital Trust Pass-Through Securities Units and the Manulife Financial Capital Securities; (b) amortization of premiums, discounts and capitalized expenses related to indebtedness; (c) the portion of rental expense that management believes is representative of the interest component of lease expense; and (d) preference security dividend requirements of consolidated subsidiaries. For the U.S. GAAP ratios only, fixed charges also include interest credited to policyholders.

The following consolidated earnings to fixed charges ratios do not reflect the issuance of any Notes pursuant to this prospectus.

### MFC s Earnings to Fixed Charges Ratios

	(Canadia	n GAAP)			
		For th	ne Twelve Months	Ended	
For the Six Months	Ended				
June 30,		December 31,			
2009	2008	2007	2006	2005	2004
0.1*	2.1	7.4	8.0	7.5	7.1

<sup>\*</sup> Due to MFC s loss in the six months ended June 30, 2009, the ratio coverage was less than 1:1. MFC would have needed additional earnings of Cdn\$386 million to achieve a coverage of 1:1.

Interest credited to policyholders is not included in fixed charges under Canadian GAAP

	(U.S. G	AAP)			
		For th	e Twelve Months	Ended	
For the Six Months Ended					
June 30,	December 31,				
2009	2008	2007	2006	2005	2004
1.9	0.5*	2.1	2.2	2.4	2.4

<sup>\*</sup> Due to MFC s loss in 2008, the ratio coverage was less than 1:1. MFC would have needed additional earnings of Cdn\$1,174 million to achieve a coverage of 1:1.

If interest credited to policyholders were excluded from, and the net effect of interest rate and currency swaps related to debt issued for capital and funding purposes were included in, fixed charges (which MFC believes would reflect a traditional but less conservative methodology) and MFC s historical ratios of earnings to fixed charges were recalculated on that basis in accordance with U.S. GAAP, they would be as follows:

(U.S. GAAP)

For the Twelve Months Ended

	For the Six Months Ended					
June 30,		December 31,				
	2009	2008	2007	2006	2005	2004
	4.0	-0.3*	5.9	6.4	8.4	7.5

<sup>\*</sup> Due to MFC s loss in 2008, the ratio coverage was less than 1:1. MFC would have needed additional earnings of Cdn\$1,174 million to achieve a coverage of 1:1.

### RISK FACTORS

An investment in the Notes involves a number of risks. You should consider carefully the following risks as well as those included in any applicable prospectus or pricing supplement or included in documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus, including the factors discussed under the captions Risk Factors and Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Statements in MFC s Annual Information Form, dated March 26, 2009, under the captions Risk Management and Critical Accounting and Actuarial Policies in MFC s Management s Discussion and Analysis for the year ended December 31, 2008, and in note 8 to MFC s annual audited consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2008, each filed as an exhibit to MFC s annual report on Form 40-F, as amended, for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008 (incorporated by reference in this prospectus) and similar sections in MFC s subsequent filings that MFC incorporates by reference in this prospectus, before you decide that an investment in the Notes is suitable for you. You should not purchase the Notes unless you understand and can bear the investment risks of the Notes. You should consult your own financial, tax and legal advisors regarding the risks and suitability of an investment in the Notes in light of your particular circumstances.

### Risks Generally Applicable to the Notes

Because the Notes are Unsecured, and the Indenture Contains No Limit on the Amount of Additional Debt that We May Incur, Our Ability to Make Timely Payments on Your Notes May be Affected by the Amount and Terms of Our Future Debt

You should consider carefully our creditworthiness before you invest in the Notes. The Notes are unsecured obligations solely of John Hancock (U.S.A.). Our ability to make timely payments on our outstanding debt may depend on the amount and terms of our outstanding Notes, and on the amount and terms of our other obligations. Before investing in the Notes, you should also consider that the Indenture does not contain any limitation on the amount of indebtedness that we may issue in the future. As we issue additional Notes under the Indenture or incur other debt outside the Indenture, unless our cash flows and earnings grow in proportion to our debt and other fixed charges, our ability to service the Notes on a timely basis may become impaired.

## Our Ability to Make Timely Payments on Your Notes Will Depend on Our Future Liquidity, Which May be Adversely Affected if Rating Agencies Were to Lower Our Ratings

Our ability to make timely payments on your Notes may be affected by our future liquidity. Our future liquidity, or ability to access cash when needed, may be adversely affected if the rating agencies were to lower our claims paying or financial strength ratings. Many of the products that we sell are purchased by investors who are attracted to us by reason of our financial strength and stability, as evidenced by our ratings. A downgrade by the rating agencies could lead to policy and contract withdrawals, increasing cash outflow. In addition, a downgrade could also harm our ability to sell new products, depressing our cash inflow, and could require us to offer higher rates of interest on financial products that we sell in the future, including future tranches of Notes. This, in turn, could reduce our liquidity, thereby affecting our ability to make timely payments on your Notes.

## Our Ability to Make Timely Payments on Your Notes Will Depend on Our Future Liquidity, Which May be Adversely Affected if Our Investments Experience Higher than Anticipated Losses

We invest the net proceeds from our sale of products, and will invest the net proceeds from sales of the Notes, in financial assets, and we use the cash flow from those financial assets to make payments on our liabilities. Our future liquidity may be adversely affected if our investments experience losses higher than anticipated. Higher investment losses may result from our credit assessment process or from economic and political conditions affecting the companies in which we invest. If actual investment losses exceed estimated investment losses, our available cash could decrease. Thus, our future liquidity, and our ability to make timely payments on the Notes, may suffer from adverse investment results.

### Our Ability to Make Timely Payments on Your Notes May be Adversely Affected by Disruptions in the Financial Markets Generally

There are always some timing differences between cash payments we owe on our products and other liabilities and the cash payments due to us on our investments. Our ability to overcome these cash mismatches and make timely payments on your Notes may be adversely affected if the fixed income markets were to experience significant liquidity problems. Under extreme stress scenarios in which the fixed income markets face

significant

7

liquidity problems, we could be unable to sell additional products and unable to sell our portfolio investments in sufficient amounts to raise the cash required to pay your Notes when due.

## Our Ability to Make Timely Payments on Your Notes Will Depend on Our Future Liquidity, Which May be Adversely Affected by Changes in Interest Rates

Our ability to make timely payments on your Notes may be affected by our future liquidity, which in turn may be adversely affected by changes in interest rates. If market rates of interest were to rise relative to the interest rates that we offer on new liabilities that we issue, including future tranches of Notes, customers may avoid purchasing our products. In addition, under these circumstances, customers holding redeemable products may seek to redeem them when increasing interest rates make the returns on other types of investments more attractive than their existing John Hancock (U.S.A.) products. If this happens at a time when a significant amount of our liabilities are maturing, then our liquidity could be reduced and our ability to make timely payments on your Notes could suffer.

## Ratings of Our Note Program and any Rated Series of Notes May Not Reflect all Risks of an Investment in the Notes and May Change in Accordance with Our Financial Strength

The ratings of the Note program generally or a specific series of Notes will primarily reflect our financial strength and will change in accordance with our financial strength rating. Any rating is not a recommendation to purchase, sell or hold any particular security, including the Notes. Such ratings do not comment as to the market price or suitability of the Notes for a particular investor. In addition, there can be no assurance that a rating will be maintained for any given period of time or that a rating will not be lowered or withdrawn in its entirety. The ratings of our Note program and any rated series of Notes issued under the program may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure and other factors on any trading market for, or trading value of, your Notes.

## If Our Actual Experience Varies Adversely From Our Underwriting Assumptions, Our Future Liquidity and Our Ability to Make Timely Payments on Your Notes May be Adversely Affected

The underwriting of our insurance products involves actuarially determined assumptions concerning mortality, morbidity, and policy lapses. Although these underwriting assumptions are based on historical data, there is no guarantee that the future experience of our customers will be consistent with this data or our assumptions. If our customers die, require long term care benefits, or surrender their policies at times or frequencies different from what we originally assumed at the time of sale, our cash outflow could be greater than anticipated. If this were to occur, our liquidity and our ability to make timely payments on your Notes may be adversely affected.

## If Our Reinsurers Refuse or Fail to Pay Claims When Due, Our Future Liquidity and Our Ability to Make Timely Payments on Your Notes May be Adversely Affected

In addition to our underwriting practices, we manage the risks relating to our insurance products by reinsuring a portion of these risks with other insurers. Although we assess and periodically reassess the creditworthiness of our reinsurers, their creditworthiness today may not reflect their actual ability to pay claims when they are due in the future. If some of our reinsurers refuse, or are unable, to meet their obligations to us, our future cash inflow and liquidity may be reduced and our ability to make timely payments on your Notes could suffer.

## If We Redeem Your Notes, You May Not be Able to Reinvest the Redemption Proceeds at an Interest Rate as High as the Rate on the Notes

If your Notes are redeemable at our option, we may choose to redeem them, from time to time, when prevailing interest rates are relatively low. If we do, you may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in a comparable security at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes being redeemed. If we have the right to redeem the Notes from you, you should consider the related reinvestment risk in light of other investments available to you at the time of your investment in the Notes.

If the accompanying pricing supplement provides that we have the right to redeem the Notes, our ability to redeem the Notes at our option is also likely to affect the market value of the Notes. In particular, as a redemption date approaches, the market value of your Notes generally will not rise substantially above the redemption price because of the optional redemption feature.

8

### You May Not be Able to Sell Your Notes at the Time or Price You Desire

Many factors independent of our creditworthiness could affect the trading market and market value of your Notes. These factors include:

the method of calculating the principal and interest for the Notes;

the time remaining to the maturity of the Notes;

the outstanding amount of the Notes;

the redemption features of the Notes; and

the level, direction and volatility of market interest rates generally.

Before you purchase any Notes, you should also consider that, on the date of this prospectus, no secondary trading market exists for the Notes. Neither we nor the Agents are obligated to make a secondary market in the Notes, and if such market making commences it may be discontinued at any time. Similarly, neither we nor the Agents are obligated to list or to maintain the listing of the Notes on any exchange or quotation system. Therefore, the liquidity of your investment in the Notes may be limited or even nonexistent at the time you wish to sell your Notes. If there are a limited number of buyers when you decide to sell your Notes, it may affect the price you receive for your Notes or your ability to sell your Notes at all.

## Depending on Your Individual Circumstances, United States Tax Rules Regarding Original Issue Discount Notes May Not be Advantageous to You

If we should offer what are called original issue discount notes, before purchasing the Notes, you should consider your tax consequences and consult your own tax advisor. A U.S. holder of an original issue discount note that matures more than one year from its date of issuance will be required to include the amount of original issue discount relating to the note in the holder s income as the discount accrues, which may be before the receipt of cash payments attributable to the income. The amount of original issue discount that the holder must include in income will equal the sum of daily allocated amounts of original issue discount for each day of the taxable year on which the holder held the note.

## If Your Notes Include the Survivor s Option, Annual and Individual Put Limitations on the Survivor s Option May Affect Timing of Payments to Your Estate

If the applicable pricing supplement indicates that your Notes are entitled to the survivor s option, following the death of a Note holder, such holder s estate will have the right to require the early repayment of the holder s Notes, either in whole or in part, subject to certain conditions and procedures. Among other things, the survivor s option is subject to (i) the annual put limitation, which means that we may limit the aggregate principal amount of Notes prepaid to all Note holders in any calendar year pursuant to exercises of the survivor s option, and (ii) the individual put limitation, which means that we may limit the principal amount of Notes prepaid to any one Note holder in any calendar year pursuant to exercises of the survivor s option. Application of either limitation may result in some or all of the requested prepayment being postponed to the next following calendar year, or even to subsequent calendar years if the unpaid balance of such request would exceed either of these limitations for the following year.

## If We Become Insolvent, Under Applicable Insurance Insolvency Laws, Your Claim as Note Holders will be Subordinate to Other Claims Against Our Estate, Including Claims of Policyholders, Holders of Annuities and Holders of Other Forms of Insurance Contracts

If we become insolvent, our insolvency proceedings will be governed by Michigan insurance laws. Michigan law prioritizes claims against the estate of insolvent life insurers as follows: (1) expenses of administration, (2) claims of policyholders and certain other persons, (3) claims of the federal government, (4) claims for liability for bodily injury or for destruction of tangible property that are not under policies and of certain

employees for compensation, up to \$1,000 per employee, (5) claims for unearned premium refunds or other premium refunds and claims of general creditors; (6) claims of state and local governments for taxes, (7) all other claims other than claims in (8) and (9); (8) surplus or contribution notes and (9) claims of stockholders. Your claims, as Note holders, would be classified in priority five. Furthermore, Michigan law provides that each higher class must receive payment in full before members of the next class receive any payment. Therefore, in the event of our insolvency, it is unlikely that you will receive payment in full on your Notes from us. The subordinated guarantee of the Notes will be issued by MFC, our indirect parent company. We represent a significant portion of the assets of

9

MFC. In the event of our insolvency or receivership, MFC may incur limitations on receiving any distributions from us. In such event, MFC may have limited resources to satisfy its obligations under the subordinated guarantee.

### Additional Risks Applicable to Floating Rate Notes

### If Your Notes Bear Interest at a Floating Rate, You May Receive a Lower Amount of Interest in the Future

Because the interest rate on Floating Rate Notes, as defined below, will be indexed to an external interest rate or index that may vary from time to time, there will be significant risks not associated with a conventional fixed rate debt security. These risks include fluctuation of the applicable interest rate and the possibility that, in the future, you will receive a lower amount of interest. We have no control over matters that may affect interest rates, including economic, financial and political events that are important in determining the existence, magnitude and longevity of these risks and their results. In recent years, interest rates have been volatile, and volatility may be expected in the future. However, past experience is not necessarily indicative of what may occur in the future.

### If the Interest Rate on Your Floating Rate Notes is Subject to a Maximum Interest Rate, Your Return Will be Limited

If the applicable pricing supplement specifies that your Floating Rate Notes are subject to a Maximum Interest Rate, as described below, the rate of interest that will accrue on the Floating Rate Notes during any Interest Reset Period, as defined below, will never exceed the specified Maximum Interest Rate. Conversely, although the applicable rate of interest will always be greater than zero, unless a Minimum Interest Rate, as described below, is specified in the applicable pricing supplement, there is no assurance that the interest rate you receive in the future will not decrease.

## If Your Interest Rate is Based upon the CPI, the Interest Rate on Your Notes May be Less than the Spread and, in Some Cases, Could be Zero

The Consumer Price Index for purposes of the Notes is the non-seasonally adjusted U.S. City Average All Items Consumer Price Index for all Urban Consumers ( CPI ). Interest payable on CPI-based Notes will be linked to changes in the level of the CPI, during twelve-month measurement periods. Such changes may be significant. Changes in the CPI are a function of the changes in specified consumer prices over time, which result from the interaction of many factors over which we have no control. If the CPI does not increase during a relevant measurement period, which is likely to occur when there is little or no inflation, holders of the Notes will receive interest payments for that interest period at an interest rate equal to the Spread, as defined below. If the CPI decreases during a relevant period, which is likely to occur when there is deflation, holders of the Notes will receive interest payments for that period at an interest rate that is less than the Spread. The Minimum Interest Rate on CPI-based Notes is zero, which means that in some cases you may not receive any interest on your CPI-based Notes.

### The CPI Itself and the Way the CPI is Calculated may Change in the Future

There can be no assurance that the Bureau of Labor Statistics of the U.S. Department of Labor will not change the method by which it calculates the CPI. In addition, changes in the way the CPI is calculated could reduce the level of the CPI and lower the interest payment with respect to the Notes. Accordingly, the amount of interest, if any, payable on the Notes, and therefore the value of the Notes, may be significantly reduced. If the CPI is substantially altered, as discussed in greater detail below, a substitute index will be employed to calculate the interest payable on the Notes.

## The Interest Rate on CPI Linked Notes may be Below the Rate Otherwise Payable on Similar Fixed or Floating Rate Debt Securities Issued by Us

Because the long-term trend in CPI changes has been positive, the initial interest rate on CPI-based Notes may be below what we would currently expect to pay as of the date of this prospectus if we issued non-callable senior debt securities with a fixed or floating rate and similar maturity to that of such Notes. Even though the long-term trend in CPI changes has been positive, at any future date, the interest rate on the Notes may be below what we would expect to pay as of such date if we issued non-callable senior debt securities with a fixed or floating rate and similar maturity to that of the Notes.

### Changes in the CPI may not Correlate with Changes in Interest Rate Indices Applicable to Other Notes Issued by Us

Changes in the CPI may bear little or no relationship to changes in interest rate indices (such as those described elsewhere in this prospectus) that may be applicable to other floating rate notes that we issue. As a result, at any time, the interest rate on CPI-based Notes may be below the interest rates payable on other non-callable floating rate debt securities of similar maturity issued by us.

### The Historical Levels of the CPI are not an Indication of the Future Levels of the CPI

The historical levels of the CPI are not an indication of the future levels of the CPI during the term of the Notes. In the past, the CPI has experienced periods of volatility, and such volatility will occur in the future. Fluctuations and trends in the CPI that have occurred in the past are not necessarily indicative, however, of fluctuations that will occur in the future.

### Risks Relating to MFC and its Subordinated Guarantee

### MFC May Be Unable to Make Timely Payments in Accordance with the MFC Subordinated Guarantee

The financial capacity of MFC to make timely payments under its subordinated guarantee of the Notes may be adversely affected by a number of factors. Investors in the Notes should review the factors discussed under the captions Risk Factors and Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Statements in MFC s Annual Information Form, dated March 26, 2009, under the captions Risk Management and Critical Accounting and Actuarial Policies in MFC s Management s Discussion and Analysis for the year ended December 31, 2008, and in note 8 to MFC s annual audited consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2008, each filed as an exhibit to MFC s annual report on Form 40-F, as amended, for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008 (incorporated by reference in this prospectus), similar sections in MFC s subsequent filings that MFC incorporates by reference in this prospectus, and other information about MFC included in this prospectus. In addition, the subordinated guarantee will constitute an unsecured obligation of MFC as guarantor, and will be subordinated in right of payment to the prior payment in full of all other obligations of MFC, except for other guarantees or obligations of MFC which by their terms are designated as ranking equally in right of payment with or subordinate to MFC s guarantee of the Notes. Consequently, in the event of MFC s bankruptcy, liquidation, dissolution, winding-up or other similar event, or upon acceleration of any series of debt securities or other financial obligations due to an event of default thereunder also triggering payment obligations on other debt, MFC s assets will be available to pay its obligations on the subordinated guarantee has been paid in full.

### MFC s Incorporation in Canada May Make it More Difficult for You to Enforce the MFC Subordinated Guarantee

Holders of Notes may have more difficulty enforcing their rights under the subordinated guarantee than would holders of Notes guaranteed by a corporation incorporated in a jurisdiction of the United States. Your ability to enforce civil liabilities under U.S. federal securities laws may be affected adversely by the fact that MFC is organized under the laws of Canada, most of its officers and directors and some of the experts named in this prospectus are residents of Canada, and a substantial portion of its assets are located outside the United States.

### WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

MFC is subject to the information requirements of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act ), and, in accordance with the Exchange Act, files reports and other information with the SEC. Under a multijurisdictional disclosure system adopted by the United States and Canada, these reports and other information (including financial information) may be prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of Canada, which are different from those of the United States. Summary financial information regarding John Hancock (U.S.A.) is included in MFC s reports. John Hancock (U.S.A.) is not subject to the information and filing requirements of the Exchange Act

You may read and copy any reports, statements or other information filed by MFC at the SEC s Public Reference Room, Station Place, 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the operation of the Public Reference Room. You can also inspect reports, proxy statements and other information about MFC at the offices of the New York Stock Exchange, 20 Broad Street, New York, New York 10005.

11

### **Table of Contents**

You may also obtain copies of this information by mail from the Public Reference Section of the SEC, Station Place, 100 F Street, N.E., Room 1024, Washington, D.C. 20549, at prescribed rates, or from commercial document retrieval services.

The SEC maintains a website that contains reports, proxy statements and other information, including those filed by MFC, at http://www.sec.gov. You may also access the SEC filings and obtain other information about MFC through the website maintained by MFC, which is http://www.manulife.com. The information contained in that website is not incorporated by reference into this prospectus.

MFC and John Hancock (U.S.A.) filed a joint registration statement on Form F-3 with the SEC in respect of the securities being offered in this prospectus. This prospectus is a part of that registration statement. As permitted by SEC rules, this prospectus does not contain all the information you can find in the registration statement. The SEC allows MFC and John Hancock (U.S.A.) to incorporate by reference information into this prospectus, which means that we can disclose important information to you by referring you to other documents filed separately with the SEC.

The information incorporated by reference is deemed to be part of this prospectus, except for any information superseded by information in this prospectus or any prospectus supplement. These documents contain important information about the companies and their financial condition.

MFC incorporates by reference into this prospectus the documents listed below, which were filed with the SEC.

- (a) MFC s Annual Report on Form 40-F for the year ended December 31, 2008, as filed on March 26, 2009 and as amended and filed on Form 40-F/A on May 8, 2009;
- (b) MFC s Report of Foreign Issuer on Form 6-K filed on March 26, 2009, other than the sections of the Notice of Annual Meeting and Proxy Circular entitled Report of the Management Resources Committee and Compensation Committee and Performance Graph and other than the 2008 Annual Financial Statements;
- (c) MFC s Annual Report on Form 40-F for the year ended December 31, 2007 as filed on March 28, 2008 and as amended and filed on Form 40-F/A on May 8, 2009; and
- (d) MFC s Report of Foreign Issuer on Form 6-K filed on June 25, 2009, July 13, 2009 and August 13, 2009. Copies of the documents incorporated in this prospectus by reference may be obtained on request without charge from:

### **Manulife Financial Corporation**

ATTN: Corporate Secretary

200 Bloor Street East, NT-10

Toronto, Ontario, Canada M4W 1E5

Telephone: (416) 926-3000

Any annual reports on Form 20-F or Form 40-F, any reports on Form 8-K, other than current reports furnished to the SEC pursuant to Item 2.02 or Item 7.01 of Form 8-K, and any reports on Form 6-K that are expressly incorporated by reference in this prospectus, as well as all prospectus supplements disclosing additional or updated information, filed by MFC and John Hancock (U.S.A.) with the SEC subsequent to the date of this prospectus, shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference into this prospectus.

A pricing supplement containing the specific variable terms of an offering of Notes will be delivered to purchasers of the applicable Notes together with this prospectus and will be deemed to be incorporated by reference into this prospectus as of the date of such pricing supplement but only for the purposes of the offering of Notes covered by that pricing supplement.

Any statement contained in this prospectus or in a document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference in this prospectus shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for purposes of this prospectus to the extent that a statement contained in this prospectus or in any other subsequently filed document which also is or is deemed to be incorporated by reference in this prospectus modifies or

supersedes such prior statement. Any statement or document so modified or superseded shall not, except to the extent so modified or superseded, be incorporated by reference and constitute a part of this prospectus.

You should rely on the information contained in or incorporated by reference in this prospectus or any applicable prospectus supplement and on the other information included in the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part. We have not authorized anyone to provide you with different or additional information. We are not making an offer of these Notes in any jurisdiction where the offer is not permitted by law. You should not assume that the information contained in or incorporated by reference in this prospectus or any applicable prospectus supplement is accurate as of any date other than the date on the front of this prospectus or any applicable prospectus supplement, as the case may be.

### ACCOUNTING TREATMENT

John Hancock (U.S.A.) does not file annual, quarterly or current reports with the SEC and there are no additional separate financial statements of John Hancock (U.S.A.) included in, or incorporated by reference in this prospectus. It is expected that the subordinated guarantee by MFC of the Notes will relieve us of our obligation, created by the filing of this registration statement, to file such reports with the SEC and thereby save us the expense of being an SEC reporting company with the SEC. John Hancock (U.S.A.) is a subsidiary of MFC for financial reporting purposes and, as a consequence, John Hancock (U.S.A.) is included in the consolidated financial statements of MFC in reports filed by MFC. MFC s financial statements also include a footnote containing condensed consolidating financial information with separate columns for MFC, John Hancock (U.S.A.) and other subsidiaries of MFC, together with consolidating adjustments.

MFC prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian GAAP, which differs from U.S. GAAP. While MFC reconciles its consolidated financial statements to U.S. GAAP to the extent required by applicable SEC rules and guidelines, MFC s consolidated financial statements incorporated by reference in this prospectus, in any applicable prospectus supplement and in the documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus may not be comparable to financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. You should refer to note 22 to MFC s annual audited consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2008 on Form 40-F/A filed on May 8, 2009 and to note 23 to MFC s annual audited consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2007 on Form 40-F/A filed on May 8, 2009 for a discussion of the principal differences between MFC s financial results calculated under Canadian GAAP and under U.S. GAAP.

### DESCRIPTION OF JOHN HANCOCK LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY (U.S.A.)

We are John Hancock Life Insurance Company (U.S.A.), a stock life insurance company that was incorporated in Maine on August 20, 1955 by a special act of the Maine legislature and redomesticated under the laws of the State of Michigan on December 29, 1992. We are a direct, wholly owned subsidiary of The Manufacturers Investment Corporation (MIC), a Michigan corporation, which in turn is indirectly wholly owned by MFC. The John Hancock name is MFC s primary U.S. brand. We are a licensed life insurance company in the District of Columbia and all states of the United States except New York. As of June 30, 2009, we had approximately \$136 billion of assets on a consolidated basis.

Our principal executive offices are located at 601 Congress Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02210 (Tel. No. 617-663-3000).

### DESCRIPTION OF MANULIFE FINANCIAL CORPORATION

MFC was incorporated under the *Insurance Companies Act* (Canada) in 1999 for the purpose of becoming the holding company of The Manufacturers Life Insurance Company, which was founded in 1887. As a mutual life insurance company, The Manufacturers Life Insurance Company had no common shareholders and its board of directors was elected by its participating policyholders. In September 1999, The Manufacturers Life Insurance Company implemented a plan of demutualization and converted into a life insurance company with common shares and became a wholly-owned subsidiary of MFC. MFC s head office and registered office is located at 200 Bloor Street East, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M4W 1E5 (Tel. No. 416-926-3000).

MFC is a leading Canadian-based financial services group serving millions of customers in 22 countries and territories worldwide. Operating as Manulife Financial in Canada and Asia, and primarily through John Hancock in the United States, MFC offers clients a diverse range of financial protection products and wealth

13

management services through its extensive network of employees, agents and distribution partners. Funds under management by MFC and its subsidiaries were Cdn\$421 billion as of June 30, 2009.

#### USE OF PROCEEDS

We intend to use the net proceeds from the sale of Notes to fund the purchase of financial assets issued or guaranteed primarily by entities unaffiliated with us. These financial assets, whose costs will vary, will consist primarily of fixed income securities, including short-term investments, bonds, whether issued publicly or through private placements, and commercial mortgages. The investment return on these financial assets, combined with the other financial assets in our general investment account, will be used to fund our liabilities, including the Notes.

### **DESCRIPTION OF NOTES**

The terms and conditions in this prospectus will apply to each Note offered on or after , 2009 (the effective date of the registration statement to which this prospectus relates) unless otherwise specified in the applicable pricing supplement. In the event of differences between the terms and conditions in this prospectus and the terms and conditions in the applicable pricing supplement, the applicable pricing supplement will govern. The general terms and conditions applicable to each Note are described below. See Additional Terms for Floating Rate Notes for specific terms relating to floating rate notes and Additional Terms for Notes with Interest Rate Based on CPI for specific terms relating to floating rate notes that bear interest based on the CPI.

### General

The Notes will be senior notes, ranking equally with all of our other unsecured, unsubordinated debt. Unless otherwise specified in the applicable pricing supplement, we will issue the Notes only in the form of one or more global securities registered in the name of a nominee of The Depository Trust Company ( DTC ), as depositary, except as specified in Book-Entry; Delivery and Form. For more information on certificated and global securities, see Book-Entry; Delivery and Form.

We may offer from time to time up to \$1,985,782,000 aggregate principal amount of Notes, on terms to be determined at the time of sale. The Notes will mature twelve months or more from the date of issue, as determined by the purchasing agent and agreed to by us.

The Notes will be issued under an Indenture (the Indenture ) between us and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee (the Trustee ). The Indenture does not limit the amount of additional unsecured indebtedness ranking equally and ratably with the Notes that we may incur. We may, from time to time, without the consent of the holders of the Notes, provide for the issuance of Notes under the Indenture in addition to the \$1,985,782,000 aggregate principal amount of the Notes offered in this prospectus.

Each Note will bear interest from the issue date at a fixed rate, which may be zero in the case of a zero-coupon note, or at a floating rate. See
Additional Terms for Floating Rate Notes for specific terms relating to floating rate notes. The Notes may be issued as original issue discount
notes. An original issue discount note is a note, including any zero-coupon note, that is issued at more than a slight discount from the principal
amount payable at maturity. Upon redemption, repayment or acceleration of the maturity of an original issue discount note, normally an amount
less than its principal amount will be payable. For additional information regarding payments upon acceleration of the maturity of an original
issue discount note and the U.S. federal income tax consequences of original issue discount notes, see Payment of Principal and Interest and
United States Federal Taxation Tax Consequences to U.S. Holders Original Issue Discount Notes.

The holders of the Notes will not have the option to require repayment of the Notes prior to the maturity date, except, if indicated in the applicable pricing supplement, pursuant to the survivor s option (as such term is defined in Repayment Upon Death Rights and Limitations under the Survivor s Option ).

The statements in this prospectus concerning the Notes and the Indenture summarize all material provisions of the Notes and the Indenture; however, because summaries necessarily are not complete you should refer to the provisions in the Indenture. We incorporate some of the provisions and defined terms in the Indenture in this prospectus as a part of the statements we are making, and we qualify the statements in this prospectus in their entirety by the references to the Indenture.

Any reference in this prospectus or any applicable pricing supplement to principal or interest or both in respect of the Notes will include:

14

Table of Contents
a reference to any additional amounts which may be payable under the heading Payment of Additional Amounts;
in relation to zero-coupon notes, the Amortized Face Amount (as such term is defined below in Glossary ); and
any other amounts which may be payable in respect of the Notes.  All Notes issued on the same day and having the same terms, including, but not limited to:
designation of series;
currency;
interest payment dates;
interest rate;
maturity date; and
redemption or survivor s option provisions, may be represented by a single global note. Your beneficial interest in a global note will be shown on, and transfers of your beneficial interest will be effected only through, records maintained by the depositary or its participants. Payments of principal and interest, if any, on the Notes represented by a global note will be made by us or our paying agent (the Paying Agent) to the depositary or its nominee. Unless otherwise specified in the applicable pricing supplement, DTC will be the depositary. See Book-Entry; Delivery and Form.
The principal amount of the Notes will be payable at maturity at The Bank of New York Mellon Global Corporate Trust, Corporate Finance, 222 Berkeley Street, 2nd Floor, Boston, MA 02116, or at such other place as we may designate. Initially, we have appointed the Trustee as our Paying Agent.
Unless otherwise specified in the applicable pricing supplement:
the authorized denominations of the Notes will be \$1,000 and integral multiples of \$1,000;
the Notes may not be redeemed by us prior to their maturity date;

Unless otherwise specified in this prospectus, the pricing supplement relating to each Note or Notes will describe the following terms:

holders of the Notes will not be entitled to require us to repay the Notes under the survivor s option (see

Death Rights and Limitations under the Survivor s Option ); and

the Notes will not be subject to any sinking fund.

Table of Contents 33

Redemption and

Repayment Upon

the price at which the Note will be issued to the public, which we refer to as the issue price;
the date on which the Note will be issued to the public, which we refer to as the issue date;
the maturity date of the Note;
the interest rate, if any, or whether the interest rate on the Note is a floating rate (See Additional Terms for Floating Rate Notes );
the periods in which any interest will be paid;
whether the holder of the Note will have the survivor s option;
whether the Note may be redeemed at our option, prior to its maturity date, and if so, the terms of the redemption;
whether such Note is a zero-coupon note or other original issue discount note;
special U.S. federal income tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposition of the Note, if any; and
any other terms of the Note that do not conflict with the provisions of the Indenture.
15

### Glossary

You should refer to the Indenture and the form of Notes filed as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part for the full definition of certain terms used in this prospectus. We have set forth below certain defined terms that are used in this prospectus with respect to the Notes.

Amortized Face Amount with respect to any original issue discount note means the amount equal to the sum of its issue price plus the original issue discount amortized using the interest method (computed in accordance with U.S. GAAP in effect on the date as of which such amount is calculated) from the issue date to the date as of which such amount is calculated.

Business day with respect to any Note means, unless otherwise specified in the applicable pricing supplement, any day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, that is not a day on which banking institutions are authorized or required by law, regulation or executive order to be closed in The City of New York, New York.

Zero-coupon note means any Note bearing zero percent interest from the issue date and issued at an issue price representing a discount from the principal amount payable on the maturity date.

### **Book-Entry**; Delivery and Form

Upon issue, all Notes having the same issue date, interest rate, if any, amortization schedule, if any, maturity date and other terms, if any, will be represented by one or more fully registered global notes; provided, however, that no single global note will exceed \$500,000,000. Each global note will be deposited with, or on behalf of, DTC or another depositary (DTC or such other depositary as is specified in the applicable pricing supplement is referred to as DTC or the Depositary ) and registered in the name of the depositary s nominee.

As long as DTC or another depositary s nominee is the registered owner of the global note, this nominee for all purposes will be considered the sole owner or holder of the Notes under the Indenture. Therefore, except as provided below, you will not:

be entitled to have any of the Notes registered in your name;

receive or be entitled to receive physical delivery of the Notes in definitive form; or

be considered the owner or holder of the Notes under the Indenture.

Beneficial interests in the global notes will be represented through book-entry accounts of financial institutions that are direct participants in DTC acting on behalf of beneficial owners of the Notes. If we decide to issue Notes outside the United States, we may arrange for non-U.S. holders to hold interests in the global notes through either DTC or Clearstream Banking, societe anonyme, Luxembourg, formerly Cedelbank, or Euroclear Bank S.A./NV, as operator of the Euroclear system if they are participants of such systems directly, or indirectly through organizations which are participants in such systems. Clearstream and Euroclear will hold interests on behalf of their participants through customers securities accounts in Clearstream s and Euroclear s names on the books of their respective depositaries, which in turn will hold such interests in customers securities accounts in the depositary s name on the books of DTC.

Except as set forth below, the global notes may be transferred, in whole and not in part, only to DTC, another nominee of DTC or to a successor of DTC or its nominee.

DTC has advised us as follows:

DTC will act as securities depository for the Notes. The Notes will be issued as fully-registered securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC s partnership nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. One fully-registered certificated Note will be issued for each issue of the Notes, each in the aggregate principal amount of such issue, and will be deposited with DTC. If, however, the aggregate principal amount of any issue exceeds \$500,000,000, one certificated Note will be issued with respect to each \$500,000,000 of principal amount, and an additional certificated Note will be issued with respect to any remaining principal amount of such issue.

DTC, the world s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a banking organization within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a clearing corporation within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a clearing agency registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of

16

1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC s participants (Direct Participants) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement of certificated Notes. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (DTCC). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (Indirect Participants). DTC has Standard & Poor s highest rating: AAA. The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. More information about DTC can be found at www.dtc.com and www.dtc.org.

Purchases of Notes under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will receive a credit for the Notes on DTC s records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Note (Beneficial Owner) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants records. Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the Notes are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in Notes, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Notes is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Notes deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the name of DTC s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of Notes with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Notes; DTC s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Notes are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Beneficial Owners of Notes may wish to take certain steps to augment the transmission to them of notices of significant events with respect to the Notes, such as redemptions, tenders, defaults, and proposed amendments to the Note documents. For example, Beneficial Owners of Notes may wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the Notes for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners. In the alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their names and addresses to the registrar and request that copies of notices be provided directly to them.

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Notes within an issue are being redeemed, DTC s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such issue to be redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to Notes unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC s Money Market Instrument Procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to issuer as soon as possible after the record date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co. s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts Notes are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).

Redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments on the Notes will be made to Cede & Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC s practice is to credit Direct Participants accounts upon DTC s receipt of funds and corresponding detail from us, on a payment date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC s records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts

17

### **Table of Contents**

of customers in bearer form or registered in street name, and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC or any other party, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is our responsibility, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Notes at any time by giving reasonable notice to us. Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor depository is not obtained, certificated Notes are required to be printed and delivered.

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC s book-entry system has been obtained from sources that we believe to be reliable, but we take no responsibility for the accuracy thereof.

Clearstream has advised us that it is incorporated under the laws of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg as a professional depositary. Clearstream holds securities for its participating organizations. Clearstream facilitates the clearance and settlement of securities transactions between Clearstream participants through electronic book-entry changes in accounts of Clearstream participants, eliminating the need for physical movement of certificates. Clearstream provides to Clearstream participants, among other things, services for safekeeping, administration, clearance and settlement of internationally traded securities and securities lending and borrowing. Clearstream interfaces with domestic markets in several countries. As a professional depositary, Clearstream is subject to regulation by the Luxembourg Commission for the Supervision of the Financial Sector.

Distributions, to the extent received by the U.S. depositary for Clearstream, with respect to the Notes held beneficially through Clearstream will be credited to cash accounts of Clearstream participants in accordance with its rules and procedures.

Euroclear has advised us that it was created in 1968 to hold securities for its participants and to clear and settle transactions between Euroclear participants through simultaneous electronic book-entry delivery against payment, eliminating the need for physical movement of certificates and any risk from lack of simultaneous transfers of securities and cash. Euroclear provides various other services, including securities lending and borrowing and interfaces with domestic markets in several countries. Euroclear is operated by Euroclear Bank S.A./NV (the Euroclear Operator ), under contract with Euroclear Clearance Systems S.C., a Belgian cooperative corporation (the Cooperative ). All operations are conducted by the Euroclear Operator, and all Euroclear securities clearance accounts and Euroclear cash accounts with the Euroclear Operator, not the Cooperative establishes policy for Euroclear on behalf of Euroclear participants.

The Euroclear Operator has advised us that it is licensed by the Belgian Banking and Finance Commission to carry out banking activities on a global basis. As a Belgian bank, it is regulated and examined by the Belgian Banking Commission.

Title to book-entry interests in the Notes will pass by book-entry registration of the transfer within the records of Euroclear, Clearstream or DTC, as the case may be, in accordance with their respective procedures. Book-entry interests in the Notes may be transferred within Euroclear and within Clearstream and between Euroclear and Clearstream in accordance with procedures established for these purposes by Euroclear and Clearstream. Book-entry interests in the Notes may be transferred within DTC in accordance with procedures established for this purpose by DTC. Transfers of book-entry interests in the Notes between Euroclear and Clearstream and DTC may be effected in accordance with procedures established for this purpose by Euroclear, Clearstream and DTC.

In the event definitive Notes are issued, the holders thereof will be able to receive payments thereon and effect transfers thereof at the offices of the Trustee or if Notes then outstanding had been held through Clearstream or Euroclear, at the offices of a Luxembourg Paying Agent chosen by us.

Individual certificates in respect of Notes will not be issued in exchange for the global notes, except in very limited circumstances. If Euroclear, Clearstream or DTC notifies us that it is unwilling or unable to continue as a clearing system in connection with a global note or, in the case of DTC only, DTC ceases to be a clearing agency registered under the Exchange Act, and in each case we do not appoint a successor clearing system within 90 days after receiving such notice from Euroclear, Clearstream or DTC or on becoming aware that DTC is no longer so registered, we will issue or cause to be issued individual certificates in registered form on registration of, transfer of,

18

or in exchange for, book-entry interests in the Notes represented by the global note upon delivery of the global note for cancellation. In addition, subject to the procedures of DTC, we may at any time determine not to have the Notes represented by the global note and, in such event, will issue Notes in definitive form in exchange for the global note. In either instance, an owner of a beneficial interest in a global note will be entitled to have Notes equal in principal amount to the beneficial interest registered in its name and will be entitled to physical delivery of the Notes in definitive form. Notes so issued in definitive form will be issued in denominations of \$1,000 and integral multiples thereof and will be issued in registered form only, without coupons. No service charge will be made for any transfer or exchange of the Notes, but we may require payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge payable in connection therewith.

#### **Global Clearance and Settlement Procedures**

Initial settlement for the Notes will be made in immediately available funds. Secondary market trading between DTC participants will occur in the ordinary way in accordance with DTC s rules. Secondary market trading between Clearstream participants and/or Euroclear participants will occur in the ordinary way in accordance with the applicable rules and operating procedures of Clearstream and Euroclear and will be settled using the procedures applicable to conventional Eurobonds in immediately available funds.

Cross-market transfers between persons holding directly or indirectly through DTC on the one hand, and directly or indirectly through Clearstream or Euroclear participants, on the other, will be effected in DTC in accordance with its rules on behalf of the relevant European international clearing system. However, a cross-market transfer will require delivery of instructions to the relevant European international clearing system, by the counterparty in such European international clearing system, in accordance with its rules and procedures and within its established deadlines (European time). The relevant European international clearing system will, if the transaction meets its settlement requirements, deliver instructions to its U.S. depositary to take action to effect final settlement on its behalf by delivering or receiving Notes in DTC, and making or receiving payment in accordance with normal procedures for same-day funds settlement applicable to DTC. Clearstream participants and Euroclear participants may not deliver instructions directly to their U.S. depositary.

Because of time-zone differences, credits of Notes received in Clearstream or Euroclear as a result of a transaction with a DTC participant will be made during subsequent securities settlement processing and dated the business day following the depositary settlement date. Credits or any transactions of the type described above settled during subsequent securities settlement processing will be reported to the relevant Euroclear or Clearstream participants on the business day that the processing occurs. Cash received in Clearstream or Euroclear as a result of sales of Notes by or through a Clearstream participant or a Euroclear participant to a DTC participant will be received with value on the depositary settlement date but will be available in the relevant Clearstream or Euroclear cash account only as of the business day following settlement in DTC.

Although DTC, Clearstream and Euroclear have agreed to the foregoing procedures in order to facilitate transfers of Notes among participants of DTC, Clearstream and Euroclear, they are under no obligation to perform or continue to perform these procedures and such procedures may be changed or discontinued at any time.

### **Payment of Principal and Interest**

Payments of principal and interest, if any, with respect to global securities will be paid in immediately available funds to DTC or its nominee. See Book-Entry; Delivery and Form. Payments of interest, if any (other than interest payable at maturity or upon redemption, repayment or acceleration of all or any portion of the principal or Amortized Face Amount of any certificated Note (other than a global note)) with respect to any certificated Notes (other than a global note) will be paid by check mailed to the address of the person entitled to the payment as it appears in the security register. Payments of principal and interest at maturity or upon redemption, repayment or acceleration of all or any portion of the principal or Amortized Face Amount of any certificated Note (other than a global note) will be made by check upon presentation and surrender of such Note to the Paying Agent, together with interest, if any, payable at maturity or upon redemption, repayment or acceleration.

Unless the applicable pricing supplement states otherwise:

if we redeem any original issue discount note as described under Redemption,

if we repay any original issue discount note at the option of the holder as described under under the Survivor s Option, or

19

if the principal of any original issue discount note is declared to be due and payable immediately as described in Events of Default, the amount of principal due and payable with respect to the original issue discount note shall be limited to the sum of its issue price plus the original issue discount amortized using the interest method (computed in accordance with U.S. GAAP in effect on the date as of which such amount is calculated) from the issue date to the date as of which such amount is calculated.

Each Note, other than a zero-coupon note, will bear interest from and including the date of issue, or in the case of Notes issued upon registration of transfer or exchange from and including the most recent interest payment date to which interest on such Note has been paid or duly provided for. Interest will be payable at the interest rate stated in such Note and in the applicable pricing supplement until the principal of such Note is paid or made available for payment. Interest will be payable on each interest payment date and at maturity. Interest will be payable to the person in whose name a Note is registered at the close of business on the regular record date next preceding each interest payment date; provided, however, that interest payable at maturity or upon redemption, repayment or acceleration prior to the next scheduled interest payment date will be payable to the person to whom principal is payable. The first payment of interest on any Note originally issued between a regular record date and an interest payment date will be made on the interest payment date following the next succeeding regular record date to the registered owner of such Note on such next succeeding regular record date. If the interest payment date or the maturity for any fixed interest rate Note falls on a day that is not a business day, the payment of principal and interest may be made on the next succeeding business day, and no interest on such payment shall accrue for the period from such interest payment date or maturity, as the case may be. Unless the applicable pricing supplement states otherwise, interest on fixed interest rate Notes will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months.

Unless otherwise specified in the applicable pricing supplement, the interest payment dates for a fixed interest rate note, other than a zero-coupon note, will be as follows:

Interest Payments Interest Payment Dates

Monthly Fifteenth day of each calendar month commencing in the first

succeeding calendar month following the month in which the Note is

issued.

Quarterly Fifteenth day of every third month commencing in the third

succeeding calendar month following the month in which the Note is

issued

Semi-annual Fifteenth day of every sixth month commencing in the sixth

succeeding calendar month following the month in which the Note is

issued.

Annual Fifteenth day of every twelfth month commencing in the twelfth

succeeding calendar month following the month in which the Note is

issued.

The regular record date with respect to any interest payment date will be the date 15 calendar days prior to such interest payment date, whether or not such date is a business day.

The interest rates on the Notes may differ depending upon, among other things, prevailing market conditions at the time of issuance as well as the aggregate principal amount of Notes issued in any single transaction. Although we may change the interest rates and other variable terms of the Notes from time to time, no change will affect any Note already issued or as to which we have accepted an offer to purchase.

### Redemption

Unless otherwise provided in the applicable pricing supplement:

we will not have the option to redeem the Notes and the holders will not have the option to require repayment of the Notes prior to the maturity date;

the Notes will not be subject to any sinking fund; and

if less than all of the Notes with like tenor and terms are to be redeemed, the Notes to be redeemed shall be selected by the Trustee by lot or other method that the Trustee deems fair and appropriate.

If applicable, the pricing supplement relating to each Note will indicate that the Note will be redeemable at our option on a date or dates specified prior to its maturity date and, unless otherwise specified in the pricing supplement, at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Note, together with accrued interest to the date of redemption, unless such Note was issued with original issue discount, in which case the pricing supplement will specify the amount payable upon such redemption.

We may redeem any of the Notes that are redeemable and remain outstanding either in whole or from time to time in part, upon not less than 30 nor more than 60 days notice.

If applicable, we will comply with the requirements of Rule 14e-1 under the Exchange Act and any other securities laws or regulations in connection with any repurchase.

We may at any time purchase Notes (including those otherwise tendered for repayment by you, or your duly authorized representative, pursuant to the survivor s option) at any price or prices in the open market or otherwise. Notes purchased by us may, at our discretion, be held or resold or surrendered to the Trustee for cancellation.

### Repayment Upon Death Rights and Limitations under the Survivor s Option

If the pricing supplement relating to a Note so states, the holder of the Note will have the right to require us to repay a Note prior to its maturity date upon the death of the beneficial owner of the Note as described below. We call this right the survivor s option.

Upon exercise of the survivor s option, we will, at our option, either repay or purchase any Note properly delivered for repayment by or on behalf of the person that has authority to act on behalf of the deceased beneficial owner of the Note at a price equal to the sum of:

100% of the principal amount of such Note (or, for zero-coupon notes, the Amortized Face Amount on the date of such repayment); and

accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of such repayment; subject to the following limitations.

Unless otherwise provided in the applicable pricing supplement, the survivor s option may not be exercised until at least 12 months following the date of original issue of the applicable Notes. In addition, we may limit the aggregate principal amount of Notes as to which the survivor s option may be exercised as follows:

In any calendar year, we may limit the aggregate principal amount to the greater of (a) 1% of the outstanding aggregate principal amount of the Notes having the survivor s option right as of December 31 of the most recently completed year or (b) \$1,000,000. We call this limitation the annual put limitation.

For any individual deceased beneficial owner of Notes, we may limit the aggregate principal amount to \$200,000 for any calendar year. We call this limitation the individual put limitation.

We will not make principal repayments pursuant to the exercise of the survivor s option in amounts that are less than \$1,000 or in amounts other than multiples of \$1,000. If the limitations described above would result in the partial repayment of any Note, the principal amount of the Note remaining outstanding after repayment must be at least \$1,000.

Each Note delivered pursuant to a valid exercise of the survivor s option will be accepted promptly in the order all such Notes are delivered, unless the acceptance of that Note or a portion of the Note would contravene the annual put limitation or the individual put limitation. If, as of the end of any calendar year, the aggregate principal amount of Notes that have been accepted pursuant to exercise of the survivor s option during that year has not exceeded the annual put limitation for that year, any Notes, or portions of Notes, not accepted during that calendar year because

of the individual put limitation will be accepted in the order all such Notes, or portions of Notes, were delivered, to the extent that any such acceptance would not trigger the annual put limitation for such calendar year.

Any Note or portion of a Note accepted for repayment pursuant to exercise of the survivor s option will be repaid no later than the next following scheduled interest payment date for the affected Notes which is at least 20 calendar days after the date of acceptance (in the case of a zero-coupon note, the repayment schedule will be set

21

forth on the applicable pricing supplement). If that date is not a business day, payment will be made on the next succeeding business day. Each Note or portion of a Note delivered for repayment that is not accepted in any calendar year due to the application of the annual put limitation or the individual put limitation will be deemed to be delivered in the following calendar year in the order in which all such Notes were originally delivered, unless any such Note or portion of a Note is withdrawn by the representative for the deceased beneficial owner.

In the event that a Note or portion of a Note delivered for repayment pursuant to valid exercise of the survivor s option is not accepted because of the application of the annual put limitation or the individual put limitation, the Trustee will deliver a notice by first-class mail to the representative of the deceased beneficial owner that states the reason that the Note or portion of a Note has not been accepted for repayment. Following receipt of such notice from the Trustee, the representative for the deceased beneficial owner may withdraw its exercise of the survivor s option, but only with respect to the portion of such Note that was not repaid because of the application of the annual put limitation or the individual put limitation, as long as such withdrawal is received by the Trustee on the earlier of (i) 90 days from the date of receipt by the representative for the deceased beneficial owner of notice from the Trustee that the Note or a portion of the Note will not be accepted for repayment or (ii) the regular record date for the next scheduled interest payment date, if any, on the Notes. Other than as described in the immediately preceding sentence, Notes delivered upon exercise of the survivor s option may not be withdrawn.

All questions as to the eligibility or validity of any exercise of the survivor s option will be determined by us in our sole discretion. Our determination will be final and binding on all parties.

#### Beneficial Owner for Purposes of the Survivor s Option

The death of a person owning a Note in joint tenancy or tenancy by the entirety will be deemed the death of the beneficial owner of the Note, and the entire principal amount of the Note so held will be subject to the survivor s option. The death of a person owning a Note by tenancy in common will be deemed the death of the beneficial owner of a Note only with respect to the deceased holder s interest in the Note so held by tenancy in common. However, if a Note is held by husband and wife as tenants in common, the death of either will be deemed the death of the beneficial owner of the Note, and the entire principal amount of the Note so held will be subject to the survivor s option. The death of a person who, during his or her lifetime, was entitled to substantially all of the beneficial interests of ownership of a Note will be deemed the death of the beneficial owner for purposes of the survivor s option, regardless of the registered holder, if such beneficial interest can be established to the satisfaction of the Trustee and us. Such beneficial interest will be deemed to exist in typical cases of nominee ownership, ownership under the Uniform Gifts to Minors Act, community property or other joint ownership arrangements between a husband and wife and trust arrangements where one person has substantially all of the beneficial ownership interest in the Note during his or her lifetime.

### How to Exercise the Survivor s Option

In the case of repayment pursuant to the exercise of the survivor s option, for Notes represented by a global security, DTC or its nominee will be the holder of such Note and therefore will be the only entity that can exercise the survivor s option for such Note. To obtain repayment pursuant to exercise of the survivor s option with respect to a Note represented by a global security, the representative must provide to the broker or other entity through which the beneficial interest in the Note is held by the deceased owner:

a written request for repayment signed by the representative, with the signature guaranteed by a member firm of a registered national securities exchange or of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. (the FINRA) or a commercial bank or trust company having an office or correspondent in the United States;

appropriate evidence satisfactory to the Trustee and us that the representative has authority to act on behalf of the deceased beneficial owner, the death of the beneficial owner has occurred and the deceased was the owner of a beneficial interest in the Note at the time of death:

instructions to the broker or other entity to notify DTC of its desire to obtain repayment pursuant to exercise of the survivor s option;

a detailed description of the Note, including the CUSIP number; and

the deceased s social security number. The broker or other entity will provide to the Trustee:

a written request for repayment signed by the representative, with the signature guaranteed by a member firm of a registered national securities exchange or of the FINRA or a commercial bank or trust company having an office or correspondent in the United States;

appropriate evidence satisfactory to us and the Trustee that the representative has authority to act on behalf of the deceased beneficial owner, the death of the beneficial owner has occurred and the deceased was the owner of a beneficial interest in the Note at the time of death:

a certificate or letter satisfactory to the Trustee from the broker or other entity stating that it represents the deceased beneficial owner, and describing the deceased s beneficial interest in the Note; and

a detailed description of the Note, including the CUSIP number.

The broker or other entity will be responsible for disbursing any payments it receives pursuant to exercise of the survivor s option to the appropriate representative. See Book-Entry; Delivery and Form.

In order to validly exercise a survivor s option for a certificated Note (other than a global note) the representative must deliver to the Trustee the same information, noted above, to be delivered to the broker or other entity for exercise of such right for a global note (other than instructions to notify DTC), plus the Note, a properly executed assignment of the Note, and evidence of beneficial ownership of any Note held in nominee name.

### **Payment of Additional Amounts**

The Notes are subject in all cases to any tax, fiscal or other law or regulation or administrative or judicial interpretation applicable thereto.

Except as specifically provided under this heading Payment of Additional Amounts and under the heading Redemption for Tax Reasons, we will not be required to make any payment to holders of Notes with respect to any tax, assessment or governmental charge imposed by any government or a political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein.

If we decide to issue Notes outside of the United States, either in whole or in part as part of a global note, and if we so indicate in the applicable pricing supplement, we will pay to the holder of any such Note who is a Non-U.S. Holder (as defined in United States Federal Taxation Tax Consequences to U.S. Holders, below) such additional amounts (the Additional Amounts) as may be necessary in order that every net payment in respect of the principal or interest, if any, on such Note, after deduction or withholding by us or any Paying Agent for or on account of any present or future tax, assessment or governmental charge imposed upon or as a result of such payment by the United States or any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein, will not be less than the amount provided for in the Note to be then due and payable before any such deduction or withholding for or on account of any such tax, assessment or governmental charge; provided, however, that the foregoing obligation to pay Additional Amounts shall not apply to:

(a) any tax, assessment or other governmental charge which would not have been so imposed but for:

the existence of any present or former connection between the holder (or a fiduciary, settlor, beneficiary, member, or shareholder of, or holder of a power over, the holder, if the holder is an estate, trust, partnership or corporation) and the United States, including, without limitation, the holder (or the fiduciary, settlor, beneficiary, member, shareholder of, or holder of a power) being or having been a citizen or resident or treated as a resident being or having been engaged in a trade or business or being or having been present or having or having had a permanent establishment in the United States, or

the holder s present or former status as a personal holding company or foreign personal holding company or controlled foreign corporation for United States federal income tax purposes or corporation which accumulates earnings to avoid United States federal income tax;

- (b) any tax, assessment or other governmental charge which would not have been so imposed but for the presentation by the holder of the Note for payment on a date more than 10 days after the date on which such payment became due and payable or the date on which payment thereof is duly provided for, whichever occurs later;
- (c) any estate, inheritance, gift, sales, transfer, personal property or excise tax or any similar tax, assessment or governmental charge;

23

### **Table of Contents**

- (d) any tax, assessment or other governmental charge which is payable otherwise than by withholding from payments in respect of principal of or interest, if any, on any Note;
- (e) any tax, assessment or other governmental charge imposed on interest received by a holder or beneficial owner of a Note who actually or constructively owns 10% or more of the total combined voting power of all of our classes of stock entitled to vote within the meaning of Section 871(h)(3) of the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended;
- (f) any tax, assessment or other governmental charge imposed as a result of the failure to comply with:

certification, information, documentation, reporting or other similar requirements concerning the nationality, residence, identity or connection with the United States of the holder or beneficial owner of the Note, if compliance is required by statute, or by regulation of the United States Treasury Department, as a precondition to relief or exemption from such tax, assessment or other governmental charge (including backup withholding); or

any other certification, information, documentation, reporting or other similar requirements under United States income tax laws or regulations that would establish entitlement to otherwise applicable relief or exemption from such tax, assessment or other governmental charge;

- (g) any tax, assessment or other governmental charge required to be withheld by any Paying Agent from any payment of the principal of or interest, if any, on any Note, if such payment can be made without such withholding by at least one other Paying Agent; or
- (h) any combination of items (a), (b), (c), (d), (e), (f) or (g), nor will such Additional Amounts be paid to any holder who is a fiduciary or partnership or other than the sole beneficial owner of the Note to the extent a settlor or beneficiary with respect to the fiduciary or a member of such partnership or a beneficial owner of the Note would not have been entitled to payment of the Additional Amounts had the beneficiary, settlor, member or beneficial owner been the holder of the Note.

As used under this heading Payment of Additional Amounts and under the headings Redemption for Tax Reasons and United States Federal Taxation Tax Consequences to Non-United States Persons, the term United States means the United States of America (including the fifty states and the District of Columbia) and its territories, its possessions and other areas subject to its jurisdiction.

### **Redemption for Tax Reasons**

If, as a result of:

any change in or amendment to the laws (including any regulations or rulings promulgated thereunder) of the United States or any political subdivision affecting taxation, which becomes effective after the issue date of the first Note of the applicable tranche or series;

any change in or amendment to the official application or interpretation of such laws, which change, amendment, application or interpretation is announced or becomes effective after the issue date of the first Note of the applicable tranche or series; or

any action taken by any taxing authority of the United States which action is taken or becomes generally known after the issue date of the first Note of the applicable tranche or series, or any commencement of a proceeding in a court of competent jurisdiction in the United States after such date, whether or not such action was taken or such proceeding was brought with respect to us;

we, in the written opinion of independent legal counsel of recognized standing addressed to us, become obligated to pay Additional Amounts (as described above under Payment of Additional Amounts ), and we, in our business judgment, determine that such obligation cannot be avoided

by the use of reasonable measures available to us, not including assignment of the Notes, the Notes of any affected tranche or series may be redeemed, as a whole but not in part, at our option at any time thereafter, upon notice to the Trustee and the holders of the Notes in accordance with the provisions of the Indenture at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount (or Amortized Face Amount in the case of an original issue discount note) of the Notes to be redeemed together with accrued interest thereon to the date fixed for redemption.

### **MFC Subordinated Guarantee**

The payment obligations with respect to any Notes issued hereunder will be fully and unconditionally guaranteed by a subordinated guarantee of MFC as described below under Description of the MFC Subordinated Guarantee. MFC s obligations under the subordinated guarantee will be unsecured and will be subordinated in right of payment to the prior payment in full of all other obligations of MFC, except for other guarantees or obligations of MFC which by their terms are designated as ranking equally in right of payment with or subordinate to MFC s guarantee of the Notes.

### ADDITIONAL TERMS FOR FLOATING RATE NOTES

Unless otherwise specified in the applicable pricing supplement, the floating interest rate Notes described in this prospectus (the Floating Rate Notes ) will be issued as described below, and the applicable pricing supplement will specify certain terms of the particular Floating Rate Note that is being delivered pursuant to that pricing supplement, including:

the fact that the Note is a Floating Rate Note,
the interest rate basis or bases,
the index maturity,
the Spread, if any,
the day count convention,
the initial interest rate,
the interest reset periods,
the interest reset dates, and

the maximum interest rate and the minimum interest rate, if any.

## **Interest Accrual and Payments**

Interest on Floating Rate Notes will be payable in arrears on each interest payment date and at maturity. The dates specified in the applicable pricing supplement under the heading 
Interest Payment Frequency and Dates 
are the dates on which interest will be payable. If any interest payment date, other than an interest payment date at maturity, is a day that is not a business day (or in the case of a LIBOR note, a day that is not

a London business day, as defined below), the interest payment date will be postponed to the next succeeding day that is a business day (or in the case of a LIBOR note, a day that is the next succeeding London business day) and, unless otherwise specified in the applicable pricing supplement, interest shall continue to accrue until paid or made available for payment. If the maturity of the Note falls on a day that is not a business day (or in the case of a LIBOR note, a day that is not a London business day), we will make the required payment of principal and interest on the next succeeding business day (or in the case of a LIBOR note, a day that is the next succeeding London business day); however, no additional interest on such payment will accrue for the period from and after the maturity date. However, in the case of a LIBOR note only, if an interest payment date or payment at maturity falls on a day that is not a London business day and the next London business day falls in the next calendar month, the payment date will be the immediately preceding day which is a London business day.

As used in this prospectus, London business day means any day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, which is both a business day (as defined in Description of Notes Glossary) and a day on which dealings in deposits in U.S. dollars are transacted in the London interbank market.

Interest payments on each \$1,000 principal amount of Floating Rate Notes will equal the amount of interest accrued from and including the immediately preceding interest payment date in respect of which interest has been paid or made available for payment, or from and including the issue date if no interest has been paid or made available for payment, to but excluding the related interest payment date or maturity date, as the case may be.

With respect to each \$1,000 principal amount of Floating Rate Notes, accrued interest is calculated by multiplying the principal amount by the applicable interest rate per annum, then prorating that product by the applicable Day Count Convention, as defined below, specified in the applicable pricing supplement. For example, in the case of Treasury Rate Notes, if the applicable Day Count Convention is specified as Actual/365(Fixed), then

25

the product obtained by multiplying the principal amount by the applicable interest rate per annum would be multiplied, in turn, by the actual number of days in the applicable Interest Reset Period, as defined below, and then divided by 365. Unless otherwise specified in the applicable pricing supplement, the applicable Day Count Convention for Treasury Rate Notes will be Actual/365 (Fixed) and the applicable Day Count Convention for CD Rate Notes, LIBOR Notes and Prime Rate Notes will be 30/360.

Unless a different definition is specified in a particular pricing supplement, the following Day Count Conventions shall have the following meanings:

- (i) Actual/365 (Fixed) means the actual number of days in the applicable Interest Reset Period divided by 365;
- (ii) Actual/Actual (Historical) means the actual number of days in the applicable Interest Reset Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of the applicable Interest Reset Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (A) the actual number of days in that portion of the applicable Interest Reset Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (B) the actual number of days in that portion of the applicable Interest Reset Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365);
- (iii) 30/360 means the number of days in the applicable Interest Reset Period divided by 360 (the number of days to be calculated on the basis of a year of 360 days with 12 30-day months (unless (a) the last day of the applicable Interest Reset Period is the 31st day of a month but the first day of the applicable Interest Reset Period is a day other than the 30th or 31st day of a month, in which case the month that includes that last day shall not be considered to be shortened to a 30-day month, or (b) the last day of the applicable Interest Reset Period is the last day of the month of February, in which case the month of February shall not be considered to be lengthened to a 30-day month)); and
- (iv) Actual/360 means the actual number of days in the applicable Interest Reset Period divided by 360. If a pricing supplement specifies a Day Count Convention other than one defined above, that pricing supplement will include the relevant definition.

#### **Interest Rate Determinations**

Each \$1,000 principal amount of Floating Rate Notes will bear interest from the issue date at the applicable interest rates determined in accordance with the procedures described in this prospectus and the applicable pricing supplement. The interest rate in effect for the period from the issue date to but excluding the first interest payment date will be the initial interest rate set forth in the applicable pricing supplement. The interest rate will be reset on each Interest Reset Date, as defined below, commencing with the first Interest Reset Date specified in the applicable pricing supplement. The interest rate determined on an Interest Reset Date will be effective for the Interest Reset Period commencing on (and including) that day and ending on (and including) the day immediately preceding the next following Interest Reset Date.

As reset on each Interest Reset Date, the interest rate borne by each \$1,000 principal amount of Floating Rate Notes shall be determined by reference to the Interest Rate Basis, as defined below, specified in the applicable pricing supplement, plus or minus the Spread, as defined below, specified in the applicable pricing supplement, subject to the Maximum Interest Rate and/or Minimum Interest Rate (if any) specified in the applicable pricing supplement.

As used in this prospectus, the Interest Rate Basis means the CD Rate, CMT Rate, CP Rate, Federal Funds Rate, LIBOR, Prime Rate or Treasury Rate, each as defined below. (We may also issue Notes with interest rates based on the Consumer Price Index, as described below, or based on another index or basis described in the applicable pricing supplement.)

As used in this prospectus, the Spread means the amount (if any) of basis points which is to be added to or subtracted from the Interest Rate Basis, as specified in the applicable pricing supplement.

#### **Interest Reset Periods and Interest Reset Dates**

Each applicable pricing supplement will specify whether the rate of interest on the related Floating Rate Notes will be reset daily, weekly, monthly, quarterly, semi-annually, annually or at another interest reset period (the

26

Interest Reset Period ). Unless otherwise specified in the applicable pricing supplement, the Interest Reset Period for the related Floating Rate Notes shall be the period from and including the most recent Interest Reset Date to but excluding the immediately succeeding Interest Reset Date or maturity date, as the case may be.

The dates specified in the applicable pricing supplement under the heading Interest Reset Dates are the dates on which the interest rate will be reset, and each is referred to as an Interest Reset Date. Unless otherwise specified in the applicable pricing supplement, when an Interest Reset Date for Floating Rate Notes (other than CPI Notes, as defined in Additional Terms for Notes with Interest Rate Based on CPI Calculation of the Interest Rate Based on CPI ), would otherwise be a day that is not a business day (or in the case of a LIBOR note, a day that is not a London business day), the applicable Interest Reset Date will be postponed to the next succeeding day that is a business day (or in the case of a LIBOR note, a day that is the next succeeding London business day). However, in the case of a LIBOR note only, if an Interest Reset Date is not a London business day and the next London business day falls in the next calendar month, the Interest Reset Date will be the immediately preceding day which is a London business day. Unless otherwise specified in the applicable pricing supplement, the Interest Reset Dates will be, in the case of Floating Rate Notes that reset:

daily, each business day;

weekly, a business day in each week as specified in the applicable pricing supplement;

monthly, a business day in each month as specified in the applicable pricing supplement;

quarterly, a business day in each third month as specified in the applicable pricing supplement;

semi-annually, a business day in each sixth month as specified in the applicable pricing supplement; and

annually, a business day in one month each year as specified in the applicable pricing supplement.

### **Maximum and Minimum Interest Rates**

The pricing supplement applicable to each tranche of Floating Rate Notes will specify whether or not the Floating Rate Notes of that tranche are subject to either a Maximum Interest Rate or a Minimum Interest Rate. If either or both apply, the pricing supplement will specify the applicable Maximum and/or Minimum rates. For example, if a pricing supplement specifies that a tranche of Floating Rate Notes has a Maximum Interest Rate of 6.00% per annum, then for any Interest Reset Date should the result of the Interest Rate Basis and the Spread exceed the Maximum Interest Rate, the interest rate applicable to the Floating Rate Notes for that Interest Reset Period would be the Maximum Interest Rate of 6.00% per annum. Conversely, if a pricing supplement specifies that a tranche of Floating Rate Notes has a Minimum Interest Rate of 1.50% per annum, then for any Interest Reset Date should the result of the Interest Rate Basis and the Spread be less than the Minimum Interest Rate, the interest rate applicable to the Floating Rate Notes for that Interest Reset Period would be the Minimum Interest Rate of 1.50% per annum.

#### **Calculation Agent**

Unless otherwise specified in the applicable pricing supplement, The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. will be the calculation agent and will determine the applicable interest rate on each Interest Reset Date. Upon the request of the holder of Floating Rate Notes, the calculation agent will provide the interest rate then in effect (when available). All determinations made by the calculation agent will be at the sole discretion of the calculation agent and, absent manifest error, will be conclusive for all purposes and binding on the Issuer and beneficial owners of the Floating Rate Notes. All percentages resulting from any calculation on the Floating Rate Notes will be rounded to the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage point, with five one-millionths of a percentage point rounded upwards. For example, 9.876545% (or .09876545) would be rounded to 9.87655% (or .0987655). All dollar amounts used in or resulting from this calculation will be rounded to the nearest cent with one-half cent being rounded upwards.

## **Certain Definitions**

Unless a different definition is specified in a particular pricing supplement, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

27

CD Rate means:

- (1) the rate reported for the second business day preceding the applicable Interest Reset Date for CDs (secondary market) having a maturity closest to the Index Maturity specified in the applicable pricing supplement, as published in the H.15 Daily Update on the Interest Reset Date or if not published on such date then as published on a business day which is closest to, but not more than four business days subsequent to, the Interest Reset Date, or
- (2) if the H.15 Daily Update is not published on the Interest Reset Date or on any of the four business days immediately following the Interest Reset Date, the rate reported for the second business day preceding the applicable Interest Reset Date for CDs (secondary market) having a maturity closest to the Index Maturity specified in the applicable pricing supplement, as published in H.15(519) on the Interest Reset Date, or if not published on such date then as published on a business day which is closest to, but not more than five business days subsequent to, the Interest Reset Date, or
- (3) if the rate referred to in clause (2) is not published on the Interest Reset Date or on any of the five business days immediately following the Interest Reset Date, the rate calculated by the calculation agent, as of approximately 3:30 P.M., New York City time, on the fifth business day following that Interest Reset Date as the arithmetic mean of the secondary market offered rates (on the fifth business day following that Interest Reset Date) of three leading nonbank dealers in negotiable U.S. dollar certificates of deposit in New York City selected by the Issuer, for negotiable certificates of deposit of major United States money center banks of the highest credit standing (in the market for negotiable certificates of deposit) with a remaining maturity closest to the Index Maturity specified in the pricing supplement and in a denomination of \$1,000,000, or
- (4) if the dealers selected by the Issuer are not quoting offered rates as mentioned in clause (3), the CD Rate already in effect on the day preceding the Interest Reset Date, or in the case of the first Interest Reset Date the initial interest rate set forth in the applicable pricing supplement minus the Spread (if any).

CMT Rate means:

- (1) the percentage equal to the yield for United States Treasury securities at constant maturity as published in H.15(519) under the caption Treasury Constant Maturities, as the yield is displayed by Reuters Group PLC ( Reuters ) (or any successor service) under the column for the Designated CMT Maturity Index, as defined below, for (a) the second business day preceding the applicable Interest Reset Date, if the Designated CMT Reuters Page is FRBCMT, or (b) the week or the month, as applicable, ended immediately preceding the week in which the Interest Reset Date occurs, if the Designated CMT Reuters Page is FEDCMT, or
- (2) if the relevant information in clause (1) is no longer published, or not published by 3:00 P.M., New York City time, on the Interest Reset Date, then the CMT Rate will be the Treasury Constant Maturity rate for the Designated CMT Maturity Index or other United States Treasury rate for the Designated CMT Maturity Index on the Interest Reset Date as may then be published by either the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System or the United States Department of the Treasury that the calculation agent determines to be comparable to the rate formerly displayed on the Designated CMT Reuters Page and published in the relevant H.15(519), or
- (3) if the information described in clause (2) is not provided by 3:00 P.M., New York City time, on the Interest Reset Date, then the calculation agent will determine the CMT Rate to be a yield to maturity, based on the arithmetic mean of the secondary market closing offer side prices as of approximately 3:30 P.M., New York City time, on the Interest Reset Date, reported, according to their written records, by three leading primary United States government securities dealers, which we refer to as reference dealers, in New York City, selected by the Issuer as described in the following sentence. The Issuer will select five reference dealers and will eliminate the highest quotation or, in the event of equality, one of the highest, and the lowest quotation or, in the event of equality, one of the lowest, for the most recently issued direct noncallable fixed rate obligations of the United States, which are commonly referred to as Treasury Notes, with an original maturity of approximately the Designated CMT

Maturity Index and a remaining term to maturity of not less than that Designated CMT Maturity Index minus one year. If two Treasury Notes with an original maturity as described above have remaining terms to maturity equally close to the Designated CMT Maturity Index, the quotes for the Treasury note with the shorter remaining term to maturity will be used. If the calculation agent is not provided with three Treasury Notes quotations, the calculation agent will determine the CMT Rate to be a yield to maturity based on the arithmetic mean of the secondary market offer side prices as of approximately 3:30 P.M., New York City time, on the Interest Reset Date of three reference dealers in New York City, selected using the same method described above, for Treasury Notes with an original maturity equal to the number of years closest to but not less than the Designated CMT Maturity Index and a remaining term to maturity closest to the Designated CMT Maturity Index and in an amount of at least \$100,000,000. If three or four (and not five) of the reference dealers are quoting as described above, then the CMT Rate will be based on the arithmetic mean of the offer prices obtained and neither the highest nor the lowest of those quotes will be eliminated. If fewer than three reference dealers selected by the calculation agent are quoting as described above, the CMT Rate will remain the CMT Rate for the immediately preceding interest reset period, or, in the case of the first Interest Reset Period, the initial interest rate set forth in the applicable pricing supplement minus the Spread (if any).

CP Rate means:

- (1) the Money Market Yield, calculated as described below, of the rate reported for the second business day preceding the applicable Interest Reset Date for commercial paper having a maturity closest to the Index Maturity specified in the applicable pricing supplement, as that rate is published in the H.15 Daily Update under the heading Commercial Paper Nonfinancial on the Interest Reset Date, or if not published on such date then as published on a business day which is closest to, but not more than four business days subsequent to, the Interest Reset Date, or
- (2) if the above rate is not published on the Interest Reset Date or on any of the four business days immediately following the Interest Reset Date, the rate reported for the second business day preceding the applicable Interest Reset Date for commercial paper having a maturity closest to the Index Maturity specified in the applicable pricing supplement as published in the H.15(519) under the heading Commercial Paper Nonfinancial on the Interest Reset Date, or if not published on such date then as published on a business day which is closest to, but not more than five business days subsequent to, the Interest Reset Date, or
- (3) if the rate referred to in clause (2) is not published on the Interest Reset Date or on any of the five business days immediately following the Interest Reset Date, the rate calculated by the calculation agent, as of approximately 3:30 P.M., New York City time, on the fifth business day following that Interest Reset Date as the arithmetic mean of the secondary market offered rates as of 11:00 A.M., New York City time, on the fifth business day following that Interest Reset Date of three leading dealers of commercial paper in New York City selected by the Issuer, for commercial paper (a) of the highest credit ratings from at least two nationally recognized statistical rating agencies and (b) with a remaining maturity closest to the Index Maturity specified in the applicable pricing supplement, or
- (4) if the dealers selected by the Issuer are not quoting as set forth in clause (3), the CP Rate will remain the rate already in effect on the day preceding Interest Reset Date, or, in the case of the first Interest Reset Period, the initial interest rate set forth in the applicable pricing supplement minus the Spread (if any).

Federal Funds Rate means:

- (1) the rate reported for the second business day preceding the applicable Interest Reset Date for federal funds as published in the H.15 Daily Update on the Interest Reset Date under the heading Federal Funds/Effective Rate, or if not published on such date then as published on a business day which is the closest to follow, but not more than four business days subsequent to, the Interest Reset Date, or
- (2) if the above rate is not published on the Interest Reset Date or on any of the four business days immediately following the Interest Reset Date, the rate reported for the second business day

preceding the applicable Interest Reset Date for federal funds displayed on the page designated FEDFUNDS1 provided by Reuters (or any such other page that may replace that page on that service or a successor service), or

- (3) if the rate referred to in clause (2) is not published on the Interest Reset Date or on any of the five business days immediately following the Interest Reset Date, the rate calculated by the calculation agent, as of approximately 3:30 P.M., New York City time, on the fifth business day following that Interest Reset Date as the arithmetic mean of the rates for the last transaction in overnight federal funds by each of three leading brokers of federal funds transactions in New York City selected by the Issuer on the fifth business day following that Interest Reset Date, or
- (4) if the brokers selected by the Issuer are not quoting as set forth in clause (3), the Federal Funds Rate will remain the rate already in effect on the day preceding the Interest Reset Date, or, in the case of the first Interest Reset Period, the initial interest rate set forth in the applicable pricing supplement minus the Spread (if any).

LIBOR means:

- (1) the rate reported by the London interbank market as of 11:00 A.M. London time on the second London business day preceding the applicable Interest Reset Date for deposits in U.S. dollars by prime banks for a period of time closest to the Index Maturity specified in the applicable pricing supplement, appearing on the Designated LIBOR Page (as defined below) on the applicable Interest Reset Date, or if not published on such date then as published on a business day which is closest to, but not more than four business days subsequent to, the Interest Reset Date, or as published at such times on any successor service or page used for the purpose of displaying the London interbank offered rates of major banks for U.S. dollar deposits, or
- (2) if the rate referred to in clause (1) does not appear on the Designated LIBOR Page, or the Designated LIBOR Page is unavailable on the Interest Reset Date or on any of the four London business days immediately following the Interest Reset Date, the rate reported as the CLOSE/ASK/YIELD for deposits in U.S. dollars by prime banks as of the second London business day preceding the applicable Interest Reset Date for a period of time closest to the Index Maturity specified in the applicable pricing supplement, as published by the Bloomberg Financial Markets Service (or any successor service) on the Interest Reset Date or if not published on such date then as published on a London business day which is closest to, but not more than five business days subsequent to, that Interest Reset Date, or
- (3) if the rate referred to in clause (2) is not published on the Interest Reset Date or on any of the five London business days immediately following the Interest Reset Date, the rate calculated by the calculation agent, as of approximately 11:00 A.M. New York City time on the sixth London business day following that Interest Reset Date, as the arithmetic mean of the rates for loans in U.S. dollars offered as of the close of business (London time) on the sixth business day following that Interest Reset Date by four banks selected by the Issuer to prime banks in the London interbank market based on a principal amount equal to an amount that is representative of a single transaction in U.S. dollars in the market at the time for a term closest to the Index Maturity specified in the applicable pricing supplement, or
- (4) if the banks selected by the Issuer are not quoting as mentioned in clause (3), the LIBOR already in effect on the day preceding the Interest Reset Date, or in the case of the first Interest Reset Date the initial interest rate set forth in the applicable pricing supplement minus the Spread (if any).

Prime Rate means:

(1) the rate reported for the second business day preceding the applicable Interest Reset Date for a Bank prime loan , as published in the H.15 Daily Update on the Interest Reset Date or if not published on such date then as published on a business day which is closest to, but not more than four business days subsequent to, the Interest Reset Date, or

(2) if the H.15 Daily Update is not published on the Interest Reset Date or on any of the four business days immediately following the Interest Reset Date, the rate reported for the second business day

30

preceding the applicable Interest Reset Date for a Bank prime loan, as published in H.15(519) on the Interest Reset Date, or if not published on such date then as published on a business day which is closest to, but not more than five business days subsequent to, the Interest Reset Date, or

- (3) if the rate referred to in clause (2) is not published on the Interest Reset Date or on any of the five business days immediately following the Interest Reset Date, the rate reported on the fifth business day following that Interest Reset Date, as the Bloomberg Prime for the fifth business day following that Interest Reset Date appearing on the Bloomberg Financial Markets Service (or any successor service) screen page Prime Rate By Top Banks (or any successor page), or
- (4) if the rate referred to in clause (3) is not published on the fifth business day immediately following the Interest Reset Date, the rate calculated by the calculation agent, as of approximately 3:30 P.M. New York City time on the fifth business day following that Interest Reset Date, as the arithmetic mean of the prime rates quoted on the fifth business day following that Interest Reset Date by three major banks in New York City, which may include the calculation agent or its affiliates, selected by the Issuer, or
- (5) if the banks selected by the Issuer are not quoting as mentioned in clause (4), the Prime Rate already in effect on the day preceding the Interest Reset Date, or in the case of the first Interest Reset Date the initial interest rate set forth in the applicable pricing supplement minus the Spread (if any).

Treasury Rate means:

- (1) the Bond Equivalent Yield of the rate reported for the second business day preceding the applicable Interest Reset Date for Treasury bills (secondary market) having a maturity closest to the Index Maturity specified in the applicable pricing supplement, as published in the H.15 Daily Update on the Interest Reset Date, or if not published on such date then as published on a business day which is closest to, but not more than four business days subsequent to, the Interest Reset Date, or
- (2) if the H.15 Daily Update is not published on the Interest Reset Date or on any of the four business days immediately following the Interest Reset Date, the Bond Equivalent Yield of the daily rate reported for the second business day preceding the applicable Interest Reset Date for Treasury bills (secondary market) having a maturity closest to the Index Maturity specified in the applicable pricing supplement, as published in H.15(519) on the Interest Reset Date, or if not published on such date then as published on a business day which is closest to, but not more than five business days subsequent to, the Interest Reset Date, or
- (3) if the rate referred to in clause (2) is not published on the Interest Reset Date or on any of the five business days immediately following the Interest Reset Date, the rate from the auction most recently preceding the Interest Reset Date of direct obligations of the United States having a maturity closest to the Index Maturity specified in the applicable pricing supplement, as displayed on the page designated INVESTMENT RATE provided by Reuters (or such other page that may replace that page on that service or a successor service), or
- (4) if the rate referred to in clause (3) is not published on the related Interest Reset Date or on any of the five business days immediately following the Interest Reset Date, the rate calculated by the calculation agent, as of approximately 3:30 P.M., New York City time, on the fifth business day following that Interest Reset Date, as the Bond Equivalent Yield of the arithmetic mean of the secondary market bid rates (on the fifth business day following that Interest Reset Date) of three primary United States government securities dealers, which may include the calculation agent or its affiliates, selected by the Issuer, for the issue of Treasury Bills with a remaining maturity closest to the Index Maturity specified in the applicable pricing supplement, or
- (5) if the dealers selected by the Issuer are not quoting as mentioned in clause (4), the Treasury Rate already in effect on the day preceding the Interest Reset Date, or in the case of the first Interest Reset Date the initial interest rate set forth in the applicable pricing supplement minus the Spread (if any).

### **Table of Contents**

Bond Equivalent Yield means a yield calculated in accordance with the following formula and expressed as a percentage:

Bond Equivalent Yield =  $D \times N$  X 100 360 -  $(D \times M)$ 

where D refers to the applicable per annum rate for Treasury Bills quoted on a bank discount basis and expressed as a decimal, N refers to 365 and M refers to the actual number of days in the applicable interest period.

Designated CMT Maturity Index means the original period to maturity of the U.S. Treasury securities, which is either 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 10, 20 or 30 years, specified in the applicable pricing supplement for which the CMT Rate will be calculated. If no maturity is specified in the applicable pricing supplement, the Designated CMT Maturity Index will be two years.

Designated CMT Reuters Page means the display on Reuters, or any successor service, on the page designated in the applicable pricing supplement or any other page as may replace that page on that service for the purpose of displaying Treasury Constant Maturities as reported in H.15(519). If no page is specified in the applicable pricing supplement, the Designated CMT Reuters Page will be FEDCMT, for the most recent week.

Designated LIBOR Page means the Reuters screen LIBOR01 page (or such other pages as may replace such page on that service or such other service as may be nominated by the British Bankers Association for the purpose of displaying London interbank offered rates for U.S. deposits).

*H.15*(519) means the weekly statistical release designated as H.15(519), or any successor publication, published by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, available through the website of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System at http://www.federalreserve.gov/releases/h15/current, or any successor site or publication.

*H.15 Daily Update* means the daily update of H.15(519), available through the website of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System at http://www.federalreserve.gov/releases/h15/update, or any successor site or publication.

Money Market Yield means the yield calculated in accordance with the following formula:

Money Market Yield = D x 360 x 100 360 - (D x M)

where D refers to the applicable per year rate for commercial paper quoted on a bank discount basis and expressed as a decimal and M refers to the actual number of days in the interest period for which interest is being calculated.

### ADDITIONAL TERMS FOR NOTES WITH INTEREST RATE BASED ON CPI

### Calculation of the Interest Rate Based on CPI

If the pricing supplement so states, the amount of interest payable on the Floating Rate Notes issued pursuant to this prospectus and the applicable pricing supplement will be linked to changes in the CPI (such Notes, the CPI Notes ). The CPI is published monthly by the Bureau of Labor Statistics of the U.S. Department of Labor (BLS) and reported on Bloomberg CPURNSA or any successor service.

The interest rate for the CPI Notes being offered by this prospectus, for each Interest Reset Period during the term of the Notes following the initial interest payment period, will be the sum of the Consumer Price Index Adjustment Rate plus the Spread. The Consumer Price Index Adjustment Rate for each Interest Reset Period will be determined as of the applicable interest rate determination date, as set forth in the

applicable pricing supplement ( Interest Rate Determination Date ), pursuant to the following formula:

(CPIt CPIt-12) / CPIt-12; where

CPIt = Current Index Level of CPI, as published on Bloomberg CPURNSA; and

CPIt-12 = Index Level of CPI for the month 12 months prior to CPIt.

The interest rate determined on an Interest Rate Determination Date will be the interest rate effective on the immediately following Interest Reset Date. In no case, however, will the interest rate for the CPI Notes be less than

32

the Minimum Interest Rate, which is zero. The initial interest rate for a CPI Note will be set forth in the applicable pricing supplement.

CPIt for each Interest Reset Date is the CPI for the second calendar month prior to the applicable Interest Rate Determination Date as published and reported in the calendar month immediately prior to such Interest Rate Determination Date. For example, if CPI Notes were outstanding for the period from and including December 15, 2009 to but excluding January 15, 2010, CPIt would be the CPI for October 2009, which was , and CPIt-12 would be the CPI for October 2008, which was 216.573. The CPI for October 2009 was published by the BLS and reported on Bloomberg CPURNSA in November 2009, and the CPI for October 2008 was published and reported in November 2008. Unless otherwise specified in the applicable pricing supplement, when an Interest Reset Date for CPI Notes is not a business day, such Interest Reset Date will not change.

#### **Consumer Price Index**

The CPI for a particular month is published during the following month. The CPI is a measure of the average change in consumer prices over time for a fixed market basket of goods and services, including food, clothing, shelter, fuels, transportation, charges for doctors and dentists services, and drugs. In calculating the index, price changes for the various items are averaged together with weights that represent their importance in the spending of urban households in the United States. The contents of the market basket of goods and services and the weights assigned to the various items are updated periodically by the BLS to take into account changes in consumer expenditure patterns. The CPI is expressed in relative terms in relation to a time base reference period for which the level is set at 100.0. The base reference period for the CPI Notes is the 1982-1984 average.

If the CPI is not reported on Bloomberg CPURNSA for a particular month by 3:00 PM on an Interest Rate Determination Date, but has otherwise been published by the BLS, the calculation agent will determine the CPI as published by the BLS for such month using such other source as on its face, and after consultation with us, appears to accurately set forth the CPI, as published by the BLS.

In calculating CPIt and CPIt-12, the calculation agent will use the most recently available value of the CPI for any month, determined as described above on the applicable Interest Rate Determination Date, even if such value has been adjusted from a prior reported value for the relevant month. However, if a value of CPIt and CPIt-12 used by the calculation agent on any Interest Rate Determination Date to determine the interest rate on the CPI Notes (an Initial CPI) is subsequently revised by the BLS, the calculation agent will continue to use the Initial CPI, and the interest rate determined will not be revised. If the CPI is rebased to a different year or period, the base reference period for the CPI Notes will continue to be the 1982-1984 reference period as long as the 1982-1984 CPI continues to be published.

If, while the CPI Notes are outstanding, the CPI is discontinued or, if in the opinion of the BLS, as evidenced by a public release, and if concurred with by us, substantially altered, the applicable substitute index for the CPI Notes will be that chosen by the Secretary of the Treasury for the Department of Treasury s Inflation-Linked Treasuries as described at 62 Federal Register 846-874 (January 6, 1997). If no such securities are outstanding, the substitute index for the CPI Notes will be determined by the calculation agent as directed by us in accordance with general market practice at the time, provided that the procedure for determining the resulting interest rate is administratively acceptable to the calculation agent.

The following table sets forth the CPI from January 2002 to July 2009, as reported by the BLS.

Month	2009	2008	2007	2006	2005	2004	2003	2002
January	211.143	211.080	202.416	198.3	190.7	185.2	181.7	177.1
February	212.193	211.693	203.499	198.7	191.8	186.2	183.1	177.8
March	212.709	213.528	205.352	199.8	193.3	187.4	184.2	178.8
April	213.240	214.823	206.686	201.5	194.6	188.0	183.8	179.8
May	213.856	216.632	207.949	202.5	194.4	189.1	183.5	179.8
June	215.693	218.815	208.352	202.9	194.5	189.7	183.7	179.9
July	215.351	219.964	208.299	203.5	195.4	189.4	183.9	180.1
August		219.086	207.917	203.9	196.4	189.5	184.6	180.7

Edgar Filing: JOHN HANCOCK LIFE INSURANCE CO USA - Form F-3

September	218.783	208.490	202.9	198.8	189.9	185.2	181.0
October	216.573	208.936	201.8	199.2	190.9	185.0	181.3
November	212.425	210.177	201.5	197.6	191.0	184.5	181.3
December	210.228	210.036	201.8	196.8	190.3	184.3	180.9

33

### **Table of Contents**

As previously stated, movements in the CPI that have occurred in the past are not necessarily indicative of changes that may occur in the future, which may be wider or more confined than those that have occurred historically.

### **Accrual and Payment of Interest**

Interest payments on each \$1,000 principal amount of the CPI Notes will equal the amount of interest accrued from and including the immediately preceding Interest Payment Date, or in the case of the first interest period from and including the issue date to but excluding the next Interest Payment Date, subject to the 30/360 day count convention, unless otherwise set forth in the applicable pricing supplement. Thereafter, each Interest Reset Period will be deemed to include 30 days for interest accrual purposes. Interest on the CPI Notes will be payable in arrears on each Interest Payment Date and at maturity. If a scheduled Interest Payment Date does not fall on a business day, the interest payment will be made on the next succeeding business day, and no additional interest on that payment will accrue from the scheduled Interest Payment Date to the next succeeding business day on which the interest payment is made.

### DESCRIPTION OF THE MFC SUBORDINATED GUARANTEE

MFC, referred to in this prospectus as the guarantor, will guarantee payment in full to the holders of the Notes to be issued hereunder. This subordinated guarantee will constitute a full and unconditional guarantee as to the payment of principal (and premium, if any) and interest, if any, and Additional Amounts, if any, on the Notes as and when the same shall become due and payable whether at stated maturity, by declaration of acceleration, call for redemption or otherwise. Under the terms of the subordinated guarantee, the guarantor will be liable for the full amount of each payment under the Notes. The subordinated guarantee will remain in effect until the entire principal of, and premium, if any, and interest, if any, and Additional Amounts, if any, on the Notes shall have been paid in full. The subordinated guarantee will constitute a full and unconditional guarantee of payment and not of collection. This means that the holder of the Notes may sue the guarantor to enforce its rights under the subordinated guarantee without first suing any other person or entity. There is no charge or cost to you for receiving the subordinated guarantee.

Unless otherwise set forth herein, the subordinated guarantee of MFC applicable to the Notes issued by John Hancock (U.S.A.) will constitute an unsecured obligation of MFC as guarantor, and will be subordinated in right of payment to the prior payment in full of all other obligations of MFC, except for other guarantees or obligations of MFC which by their terms are designated as ranking equally in right of payment with or subordinate to MFC s guarantee of the Notes, and effectively rank senior to MFC s preferred and common shares. As a result, in the event of the guarantor s bankruptcy, liquidation, dissolution, winding-up or other similar event or upon acceleration of any series of debt securities or other financial obligations due to an event also triggering payment obligations on other debt, the guarantor s assets will be available to pay its obligations on the subordinated guarantee only after all secured indebtedness and other indebtedness senior to the subordinated guarantee has been paid in full. There may not be sufficient assets remaining to pay amounts due on all or any portion of the subordinated guarantee.

34

John Hancock (U.S.A.) does not file annual, quarterly or current reports with the SEC and there are no additional separate financial statements of John Hancock (U.S.A.) included in, or incorporated by reference in this prospectus. MFC, the company that is providing the subordinated guarantee, is the ultimate parent of all of the companies in the John Hancock group of companies, including us. MFC is a company organized under the laws of Canada and its common shares are listed principally on the Toronto Stock Exchange and the New York Stock Exchange. MFC files with the SEC annual and current reports on Forms 40-F and 6-K, respectively. John Hancock (U.S.A.) is included in the consolidated financial statements of MFC in reports filed by MFC. MFC s financial statements include a footnote containing condensed consolidating financial information with separate columns for MFC, John Hancock (U.S.A.) and other subsidiaries of MFC, together with consolidating adjustments.

The subordinated guarantee of the Notes by MFC will be governed by the laws of the State of New York. The subordinated guarantee will provide that any claim or proceeding brought by a holder to enforce the obligations of MFC, as guarantor, may be brought in a court of competent jurisdiction in the Borough of Manhattan, City and State of New York, and that MFC submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of such courts in connection with such claim or proceeding. MFC has designated John Hancock Life Insurance Company of New York, 100 Summit Lake Drive, Valhalla, New York 10595, as its authorized agent upon whom process may be served in any legal action or proceeding against MFC arising out of or in connection with the subordinated guarantee. All payments on the Notes by the guarantor under the subordinated guarantee will be made without withholding or deduction for, or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed or levied by or on behalf of the Government of Canada, or any province, territory or political subdivision thereof, or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax, unless the withholding or deduction of such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges by the guarantor is required by law or by the administration or interpretation of such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges by the guarantor as, on account or in lieu of payment of, or in satisfaction of, interest on the Notes to a non-resident of Canada are not subject to Canadian withholding tax. In the event Canadian tax is exigible, the guarantor will pay such additional amounts as may be necessary in order that the net amounts received by the holders of the Notes after such withholding or deduction ( Guarantor Additional Amounts ), except as described herein and except that no such Guarantor Additional Amounts shall be payable with respect to any Note presented for payment:

- (a) by or on behalf of a holder who is liable for such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges in respect of such Note (i) by reason of his being a person with whom John Hancock (U.S.A.) or the guarantor is not dealing at arm s length for the purposes of the Income Tax Act (Canada), or (ii) by reason of his having a connection with Canada or any province or territory thereof other than the mere holding, use or ownership or deemed holding, use or ownership of such Note;
- (b) by or on behalf of a holder who would not be liable for or subject to such withholding or deduction by making a claim for exemption to the relevant tax authority; or
- (c) more than 10 days after the Relevant Date (as defined below) except to the extent that the holder thereof would have been entitled to Guarantor Additional Amounts on presenting the same for payment on the last day of such period of 10 days.

  As used herein, Relevant Date shall mean whichever is the later of (a) the date on which such payment first becomes due, or (b) if the full

As used herein, Relevant Date shall mean whichever is the later of (a) the date on which such payment first becomes due, or (b) if the full amount of the moneys payable has not been received by a depository on or prior to such date, the date on which the full amount of such moneys shall have been so received, notice to that effect having been duly provided in accordance with the terms of the Notes.

### UNITED STATES FEDERAL TAXATION

### General

In the opinion of our counsel, Mintz, Levin, Cohn, Ferris, Glovsky and Popeo, P.C., subject to the limitations and qualifications described below, the following are the material United States federal income and certain estate tax consequences of the ownership and disposition of the

Notes by an original holder purchasing Notes at the issue price (as defined below) and holding the Notes as capital assets within the meaning of Section 1221 of the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the Code ). The following does not discuss all United States federal income tax consequences that may be applicable to you. In particular, if you are:

a financial institution;
an insurance company;
a dealer in securities;
a person holding Notes as part of a straddle, conversion transaction, hedging or other integrated transaction;
a U.S. Holder (as defined below) whose functional currency (as defined in Section 985 of the Code) is not the U.S. dollar;
a partnership, or other entity classified as a partnership for United States federal income tax purposes; or
a person subject to the alternative minimum tax, you may be subject to special rules. In the case of a partnership holding the Notes, the tax treatment of a partner will depend on the status of the partner and the tax treatment of the partnership. In addition, the United States federal income tax consequences of a particular Note will depend, in part, on the terms of the Note.
We advise you to consult your own tax advisors with regard to the application of the United States federal income and estate tax laws to your particular situation and any tax consequences arising under the laws of any state, local or foreign tax jurisdiction.
These opinions are based on the Code, United States Treasury Regulations (including proposed and temporary regulations) promulgated under the Code, rulings, official pronouncements and judicial decisions as of the date of this prospectus. You should know that the authorities on which these opinions are based are subject to change or differing interpretations, which could apply retroactively, and could result in United States federal income tax consequences for you that are different from those discussed below.
Tax Consequences to U.S. Holders
For purposes of the following discussion, U.S. Holder means a beneficial owner of a Note that is for United States federal income tax purposes
a citizen or resident of the United States;
a corporation, or other entity treated as a corporation for United States federal income tax purposes, created or organized in or under the laws of the United States or of any political subdivision thereof;

a trust if (a) a court within the United States is able to exercise primary supervision over the administration of the trust and (b) one or more United States persons have authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust; as well as certain trusts that have made valid elections to be treated as United States persons.

The term U.S. Holder also includes certain former citizens of the United States. A Non-United States Person is a person who is neither a U.S. Holder nor a partnership or any entity or arrangement classified as a partnership for United States federal income tax purposes.

an estate the income of which is subject to United States federal income taxation regardless of its source; or

### Payments of Interest

Stated interest on a Note generally will be taxable to a U.S. Holder as ordinary interest income at the time it is accrued or is received in accordance with the U.S. Holder s method of accounting for federal income tax purposes.

All payments of interest on a Note that matures one year or less from its date of issuance will be included in the stated redemption price at the maturity of the Note and will be taxed in the manner described below under Original Issue Discount Notes .

Special rules governing the treatment of interest paid with respect to original issue discount notes (as defined below) are described under Original Issue Discount Notes below.

### Original Issue Discount Notes

The following opinions are generally based upon the Treasury Regulations concerning the treatment of debt instruments issued with original issue discount (the OID Regulations ). Under the OID Regulations, a Note that has

36

#### **Table of Contents**

an issue price that is less than its stated redemption price at maturity will be considered to have been issued at an original issue discount, subject to the de minimis rule discussed below. The issue price of a note is equal to the first price to the public (not including bond houses, brokers or similar persons or organizations acting in the capacity of underwriters, placement agents or wholesalers) at which a substantial amount of the notes are sold for money. The stated redemption price at maturity of a note is equal to the sum of all payments to be made on the note other than qualified stated interest payments. With respect to a note, qualified stated interest is stated interest unconditionally payable in cash or property (other than our debt instruments) at least annually during the entire term of the note and equal to the outstanding principal balance of the note multiplied by a single fixed rate of interest.

Notwithstanding the definition of original issue discount above, a note will not be considered to have been issued with an original issue discount if the amount of such original issue discount is less than a de minimis amount generally equal to 0.25% of the stated redemption price at maturity multiplied by the number of complete years to maturity. Holders of notes with less than a de minimis amount of original issue discount will be required to include such original issue discount in income, as capital gain, on a pro rata basis as principal payments are made on the note.

A U.S. Holder of an original issue discount note (other than certain U.S. Holders of Short-Term Original Issue Discount Notes, as defined below) will be required to include qualified stated interest in income at the time it is received or accrued in accordance with such U.S. Holder s method of accounting.

A U.S. Holder of an original issue discount note that matures more than one year from its date of issuance will be required to include original issue discount in income as it accrues, in accordance with a constant yield method based on a compounding of interest, before the receipt of cash payments attributable to such income. The amount of original issue discount includible in income will be equal to the sum of the daily portions of the original issue discount for each day during the taxable year on which the U.S. Holder held such note. The daily portion is the original issue discount for the accrual period that is allocated ratably to each day in the accrual period. The original issue discount for an accrual period will be equal to the excess, if any, of (a) the product of the adjusted issue price of an original issue discount note at the beginning of such accrual period and its yield to maturity over (b) the amount of any qualified stated interest allocable to the accrual period. The accrual period is any period not to exceed one year provided that each payment of principal or interest occurs either on the first or the final day of the accrual period. We will specify the accrual period we intend to use in the applicable pricing supplement but a U.S. Holder is not required to use the same accrual period for purposes of determining the amount of original issue discount includible in its income for a taxable year. The adjusted issue price of a note at the beginning of an accrual period will be equal to the issue price of the note, increased by the aggregate amount of original issue discount with respect to the note that accrued in prior accrual periods and was previously includible in the income of a U.S. Holder, and reduced by the amount of any payments on the note in prior accrual periods other than payments of qualified stated interest. Under these rules, U.S. Holders will have to include in income increasingly greater amounts of original issue discount in successive accrual periods.

Under the OID Regulations, a U.S. Holder will have the option to make an election (the Constant Yield Election ) to include in gross income all interest that accrues on a note (including stated interest and the applicable amount of original issue discount) in accordance with a constant yield method based on the compounding of interest. Special rules apply to such election and U.S. Holders considering such an election should consult their own tax advisors.

A cash method U.S. Holder of an original issue discount note that matures one year or less from its date of issuance (a Short-Term Original Issue Discount Note ) is not required to accrue original issue discount on the note for United States federal income tax purposes unless it elects to do so. U.S. Holders who make such an election, U.S. Holders who report income for United States federal income tax purposes on the accrual method and certain other U.S. Holders, will be required to include original issue discount (including stated interest, if any) in income on such Short-Term Original Issue Discount Notes as it accrues on a straight-line basis, unless an election is made to use the constant yield method (based on a daily compounding). In the case of a U.S. Holder who is not required and does not elect to include original issue discount in income currently, any gain realized on the sale, exchange or redemption of the Short Term Original Issue Discount Note will be ordinary income to the extent of the original issue discount accrued. In addition, such U.S. Holder will be required to defer deductions for any interest paid on indebtedness incurred to purchase or carry Short-Term Original Issue Discount Notes in an amount not exceeding the deferred interest income, until such deferred interest income is recognized.

37

We may have the option to redeem certain Notes prior to the maturity date, or a U.S. Holder may have the option to require the Notes to be repaid prior to the maturity date (i.e., Notes with a survivor s option). Notes containing such features may be subject to rules that differ from the general rules discussed above. U.S. Holders intending to purchase Notes with any such features should carefully examine the applicable pricing supplement and should consult with their own tax advisors with respect to such features.

### United States Federal Income Taxation For Floating Rate Notes, Including CPI Linked Notes

We intend to treat Floating Rate Notes (including CPI-linked Notes) as variable rate debt instruments, for United States federal income tax purposes. Assuming these notes are so treated, under the OID Regulations, all stated interest on these notes would constitute qualified stated interest. In particular, the amount of qualified stated interest that accrues with respect to a Floating Rate Note during any accrual period would be determined under the rules applicable to fixed rate debt instruments by assuming that the qualified floating rate (i.e., the Interest Rate Basis plus the Spread) is a fixed rate equal to the value of the qualified floating rate (i.e., the Interest Rate Basis plus the Spread) as of the issue date. The qualified stated interest allocable to an accrual period would be increased (or decreased) if the interest actually paid during an accrual period exceeds (or is less than) the interest assumed to be paid during the accrual period pursuant to the foregoing rules.

Alternatively, it is possible that the United States Internal Revenue Service ( IRS ) could assert that the Floating Rate Notes are subject to special rules governing contingent payment debt instruments ( CPDIs ). If the IRS were successful in this assertion, U.S. Holders would be required to accrue original issue discount income, subject to adjustments, at the comparable yield (which is the yield at which we would issue a fixed rate debt instrument with terms and conditions similar to the notes) of the notes and any gain recognized with respect to the notes generally would be treated as ordinary income. Prospective investors are urged to consult their tax advisors regarding the tax consequences to them of purchasing the notes, including the possibility that the Floating Rate Notes could be treated as CPDIs.

### Sale, Exchange or Redemption of the Notes

Upon the sale, exchange or redemption of a Note, a U.S. Holder will recognize taxable gain or loss equal to the difference between the amount realized on the sale, exchange or redemption (other than amounts representing interest which will be treated as interest as described under Payments of Interest above) and the U.S. Holder s adjusted tax basis in the Note. A U.S. Holder s adjusted tax basis in a Note will be the U.S. dollar cost of the Note to the U.S. Holder, increased by the amount of any original issue discount previously includible in income by the U.S. Holder with respect to the Note and reduced by any principal payments received by the U.S. Holder and, in the case of an original issue discount note, by the amounts of any other payments that do not constitute qualified stated interest.

Gain or loss realized on the sale, exchange or redemption of a Note will be capital gain or loss (except in the case of a Short-Term Original Issue Discount Note, to the extent of any original issue discount not previously included in such U.S. Holder s taxable income, or in the case of a CPDI). Such gain will be long-term capital gain in the event the U.S. Holder has owned the Note for more than one year. In addition, if the Notes are modified in certain material respects, such modification may be treated as a sale or exchange of the Notes for newly issued Notes. Prospective investors should consult their tax advisors regarding the treatment of capital gains (which may be taxed at lower rates than ordinary income for taxpayers who are individuals, trusts or estates) and losses (the deductibility of which is subject to limitations).

If a U.S. Holder disposes of only a portion of a Note pursuant to a redemption or repayment (pursuant to the survivor s option, if applicable), such disposition will be treated as a pro rata prepayment in retirement of a portion of a debt instrument. The resulting gain or loss would be calculated by assuming that the original Note being tendered consists of two instruments, one that is retired (or repaid), and one that remains outstanding. The adjusted issue price, the U.S. Holder s adjusted basis, and the accrued but unpaid original issue discount of the original Note, determined immediately before the disposition, would be allocated between these two instruments based on the portion of the instrument that is treated as retired by the pro rata prepayment.

### Backup Withholding and Information Reporting

Backup withholding and information reporting requirements may apply to certain payments of principal and interest (including original issue discount) on a Note, and to payments of proceeds of the sale or redemption of a

38

Note, to certain non-corporate U.S. Holders. We, our agent, a broker, the relevant Trustee or any Paying Agent, as the case may be, will be required to withhold tax, currently at a rate of 28% (the backup withholding tax), from any such payment if the U.S. Holder fails to furnish or certify his correct taxpayer identification number (Social Security number or employer identification number) to the payor in the manner required, fails to certify that such U.S. Holder is exempt from backup withholding, or otherwise fails to comply with the applicable requirements of the backup withholding rules. Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules from a payment to a U.S. Holder may be credited against such holder s United States federal income tax and may entitle such holder to a refund, provided that the required information is furnished to the IRS.

### **Tax Consequences to Non-United States Persons**

### Income and Withholding Tax

Subject to the discussion of backup withholding below:

- (a) payments of principal and interest (including original issue discount, if any) on a Note to any Non-United States Person will not be subject to United States federal withholding tax provided that, in the case of interest:
- (1) (i) the holder does not actually or constructively own 10% or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of our stock entitled to vote,
- (ii) the holder is not a controlled foreign corporation that is related, directly or indirectly, to us through stock ownership;
- (iii) the holder is not a bank receiving interest described in Section 881(c)(3)(A) of the Code; and
- (iv) either (A) the beneficial owner of the Note certifies (generally on an IRS Form W-8BEN) to the person otherwise required to withhold United States federal income tax from such interest, under penalties of perjury, that it is not a United States person and provides its name and address or (B) a securities clearing organization, bank or other financial institution that holds customers—securities in the ordinary course of its trade or business (a—financial institution—) and holds the Note, certifies to the person otherwise required to withhold United States federal income tax from such interest, under penalties of perjury, that the above statement has been received from the beneficial owner by it or by a financial institution between it and the beneficial owner and furnishes the payor with a copy thereof;
- (2) the beneficial owner is entitled to the benefits of an income tax treaty under which the interest is exempt from United States federal withholding tax and the beneficial owner of the Note or such owner s agent provides an IRS Form W-8BEN claiming the exemption; or
- (3) the beneficial owner conducts a trade or business in the United States to which the interest is effectively connected and the beneficial owner of the Note or such owner s agent provides an IRS Form W-8ECI;

provided that in each such case, the relevant certification or IRS form is delivered pursuant to applicable procedures and is properly transmitted to the person otherwise required to withhold United States federal income tax, and none of the persons receiving the relevant certification or IRS form has actual knowledge that the certification or any statement on the IRS form is false;

- (b) a Non-United States Person will not be subject to United States federal income tax on any gain realized on the sale, exchange or other disposition of a Note unless the gain is effectively connected with such holder s trade or business in the United States or, in the case of an individual, the holder is present in the United States for 183 days or more in the taxable year in which the sale, exchange or other disposition occurs and certain other conditions are met; and
- (c) a Note owned by an individual who at the time of death is not, for United States federal estate tax purposes, a citizen or resident of the United States will not be subject to United States federal estate tax as a result of such individual s death if the individual does not actually or constructively own 10% or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of our stock entitled to vote and, at the time of such individual s death, the income on the Note would not have been effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business of the individual.

If a Non-United States Person holding a Note is engaged in a trade or business in the United States, and if interest (including original issue discount, if any) on the Note (or gain realized on its sale, exchange or other disposition) is effectively connected with the conduct of such trade or business, such holder, although exempt from

the withholding tax discussed in the preceding paragraphs, will be subject to regular United States income tax on such effectively connected income in the same manner as if it were a U.S. Holder (see Tax Consequences to U.S. Holders above). Such a holder will also need to provide a United States taxpayer identification number on the forms referred to in paragraph (a) above in order to meet the requirements set forth above. In addition, if such holder is a foreign corporation, it will be subject to a 30% branch profits tax (unless reduced or eliminated by an applicable treaty) on its effectively connected earnings and profits for the taxable year, subject to certain adjustments. For purposes of the branch profits tax, interest on, and any gain recognized on the sale, exchange or other disposition of, a Note will be included in the effectively connected earnings and profits of such holder if such interest or gain, as the case may be, is effectively connected with the conduct by such holder of a trade or business in the United States.

Each holder of a Note should be aware that if it does not properly provide the required IRS form, or if the IRS form (or, if permissible, a copy of such form) is not properly transmitted to and received by the United States person otherwise required to withhold United States federal income tax, interest on the Note may be subject to United States withholding tax at a 30% rate and the holder will not be entitled to any additional amounts from us described under the heading Description of Notes Payment of Additional Amounts with respect to such tax. Such tax, however, could be allowed as a refund or as a credit against such holder s United States federal income tax.

The foregoing does not deal with all aspects of federal income, estate and withholding tax that may be relevant to Non-United States Persons holding the Notes. Potential investors are advised to consult their own tax advisors for specific advice concerning the ownership and disposition of Notes.

#### Backup Withholding and Information Reporting

Information returns will be filed with the IRS on the Notes and the proceeds from a sale or other disposition of the Notes. You may be subject to a United States backup withholding tax on these payments unless you comply with certification procedures to establish that you are not a United States person for United States federal income tax purposes. The certification procedures required to claim the exemption from withholding tax on interest and original issue discount described above will satisfy the certification requirements necessary to avoid the backup withholding tax, provided that we, our agent, a broker, the relevant Trustee or our Paying Agent, as the case may be, do not have actual knowledge that the payee is a United States person for United States federal income tax purposes. The amount of any backup withholding from a payment to you will be allowed as a credit against your United States federal income tax liability and may entitle you to a refund, provided that the required information is furnished to the IRS.

#### **COVENANTS**

#### **Limitation on Secured Indebtedness**

The Notes are not secured by mortgage, pledge or other lien. However, subject to certain significant exceptions described below, we will covenant that so long as any of the Notes remain outstanding, we will not mortgage, pledge or otherwise subject any asset to any lien to secure Indebtedness, as defined below, unless the Notes are secured equally and ratably with such Indebtedness by a lien on such asset, for so long as such Indebtedness remains outstanding. This covenant does not apply to any asset allocated to a separate investment account. Furthermore, this covenant does not apply to:

liens which attach concurrently with or within 90 days after the acquisition or commencement of construction or improvement of an asset, which secure obligations incurred or assumed for the purpose of financing the cost of such acquisition, construction or improvement;

liens on any asset of any corporation which exist at the time such corporation is merged or consolidated with John Hancock (U.S.A.) or to which all or substantially all of the assets of John Hancock (U.S.A.) are transferred and which were not created in contemplation of such

merger, consolidation or transfer;

liens on any asset which exist prior to the acquisition of such asset and which were not created in contemplation of its acquisition;

liens on any asset if recourse on the related Indebtedness is limited to such asset;

liens arising out of the refinancing, extension, renewal or refunding of any Indebtedness secured by any of the foregoing permitted liens;

liens on Permitted Collateralization Assets, as defined below;

40

### **Table of Contents**

liens arising out of loans of securities, repurchase agreements, reverse repurchase agreements, or swap contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business;

liens arising in connection with policies or contracts of insurance, reinsurance, guaranteed investment contracts, funding agreements and other similar contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business;

easements, rights-of-way and similar liens or encumbrances on real property that do not in the aggregate materially impair the use of such property;

liens securing obligations owed by us to one or more of our subsidiaries; and

other liens that secure Indebtedness in an aggregate amount not exceeding 15% of Consolidated Net Tangible Assets, as defined below. For purposes of this covenant, Consolidated Net Tangible Assets , computed in accordance with U.S. GAAP, means our total assets less each of the following: (a) all short-term debt, dividends payable to policyholders, and unpaid claims and claim expense reserve, (b) all goodwill, tradenames, trademarks, licenses, patents and copyrights, (c) all deferred policy acquisition costs, and (d) all assets allocated to separate accounts.

For purposes of this covenant, Indebtedness means:

all obligations of ours for borrowed money evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or other similar instruments,

all obligations of ours to pay the deferred purchase price of property or services, except trade accounts payable arising in the ordinary course of business,